
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
 
72nd Board Meeting 
Wednesday, March 28, 2007 12:00 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (Tom Foley) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• February 14 meeting minutes   Action 
• Board committee appointments (R434)  Action 


 
12:10 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
  
12:15 p.m. Consent Agenda 2 Action 


• Advisory council charters (R429)  
 
12:20 p.m. President’s Report 
 
12:30 p.m. Committee Reports  
 •Audit Committee (Julie Hammond) 3  


• Review results of financial audit  
(Grant Jones from Perkins and Co.)  Information 


• Accept audited financial report for period 
 ending 12/31/06 (R430)  Action 


 •Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 4  
• Amending 2007 budget (R431)  Action 
• 2007 Budget revised (separate binder) 


 •Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 5 Information  
 •Policy Committee (John Reynolds) 6  


• Green Tag policy (R433)   Action 
 •Legislative update (Bill Nesmith)  Information 
 
2:00 p.m. Break 
 
2:15 p.m. Renewable Energy program (John Reynolds) 7 


• Warm Springs biomass project  (R432)  Action 
 
2:45 p.m. Staff Report (Margie Harris) 8 Information 


• Highlights 
 
3:00 p.m. Adjourn 
 


Please note: the next meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, May 9, 2007, 12:00 noon 


at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 







Agenda  March 28, 2007 


   2


INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• February 14 meeting minutes 
• Board committee appointments (R434)  


 
Tab 2 Consent Agenda 


• Advisory council charters (R429) 
  
Tab 3 Audit Committee 


• Accept audited financial report for period ending 12/31/06 (R430) 
• Draft audited financial report for period ending 12/31/06   


 
Tab 4 Finance Committee 


• Notes from February 8 meeting  
• Notes from March 13 meeting 
• Amending 2007 budget (R431) 
• 2007 Budget revised – separate document   
• Financial glossary   


 
Tab 5  Program Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from February 23 meeting  
 
Tab 6 Policy Committee  


• Notes from March 13 meeting 
• Green Tag policy (R433)  
 


Tab 7 Renewable Energy program 
• Warm Springs biomass project (R432) 


 
Tab 8 Staff report 


• Highlights 
 
Tab 9 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes February 21 
• CAC notes March 14  
• RAC notes March 14   


 








 
 
 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 71st Meeting 
February 14, 2007 
 
Board members present:  Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, Julie Hammond, Al Jubitz, 
John Klosterman, Vickie Liskey, Alan Meyer, John Reynolds 
 
Board members absent: Caddy McKeown, Debbie Kitchin, Preston Michie, Bill Nesmith (ODOE 
special advisor), John Savage (OPUC ex-officio member) 
 
Staff attending:  Alan Cowan, Phil Degens, Fred Gordon, Michel Gregory, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, 
Steve Lacey, Linda Rudawitz, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaeffer, Jill Steiner, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending: Jeremy Anderson, WISE; Dan Dettmer, consultant; Toby Kinkaid, Oregon Wind 
Corp., Hallie Gallinger, PacifiCorp; Steven McGrath, Commercial Solar Ventures; Ernie Munch, EMRA; 
Sandra Walden, Commercial Solar Ventures 
 
 
Business Meeting 
 
President Tom Foley called the meeting to order at 12:15 pm.  
 
Agenda. Agenda stands with no changes. 
 
December 13, 2006, Meeting Minutes. Tom Foley noted a correction to the President’s Report on 
page 8 to read as follows: 
 
…He also distributed copies of a press release from Microfield. The press release discusses 
how Microfield works with utility customers to provide demand reductions that allow PJM’s grid 
operators to maintain system stability. 
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the December 13, 2006, meeting as amended.  
 
 Moved by:  Rick Applegate  Seconded by:  John Reynolds 
 
 Vote:  In favor: 8 Abstained: 0 Opposed: 0 
 
 Adopted on February 14, 2007, by the Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
General Public Comments 
 
Toby Kinkaid, Oregon Wind Corp., thanked the board for its good work, and for embodying everything 
true about the pioneer spirit. He questioned whether Energy Trust is dedicating enough of its budget to 







Discussion Minutes  February 14, 2007 


2 


support small wind. He invented a vertical axis turbine in a helix shape he believes has promise for 
applications in an urban environment. It can generate energy in winds as low as 5 mph. He thinks this 
technology is simple, mass producible and effective.  
 
Toby is seeking Energy Trust financial support to acquire data to demonstrate the technology. Peter 
West, Renewable Energy Director referenced Alan Cowan, Renewable Energy program manager, who is 
working with NW SEED to design a small wind program. Alan is converting the small anemometer loan 
program to a wind mapping program. Peter expects the program to be presented for board 
consideration in three months. Peter went on to explain that Energy Trust considers whether 
technologies are commercially available in the marketplace before accepting them for funding. He said 
Mr. Kinkaid has been invited to apply through the Open Solicitation Program. When we receive the 
proposal, we will evaluate it. In the past, we have funded demonstration projects with the proviso that, 
to receive the funding, the technology must perform better than the “beta” version. Tom Foley thanked 
Mr. Kinkaid and encouraged him to submit a proposal. 
 
John Klosterman arrived during Mr. Kinkaid’s discussion. 
 
President’s Report 
 
Tom Foley noted some board and staff had an interesting tour of Stimson Lumber Company this 
morning. Stimson has installed several efficiency measures with Energy Trust support and has realized 
significant savings. He would like to see more such tours, possibly in connection with every other board 
meeting.  
 
 
Board Nominating Committee 
 
Rick Applegate reported the committee recommends appointing Debbie Kitchin, Vickie Liskey, Alan 
Meyer and John Reynolds to new three-year board terms.  
 


RESOLUTION 425 
 ELECTING DEBBIE KITCHIN, VICKIE LISKEY, ALAN MEYER AND  


JOHN REYNOLDS TO NEW THREE-YEAR TERMS ON THE ENERGY 
TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


 


WHEREAS:  
 


1. The terms of Debbie Kitchin, Vickie Liskey, Alan Meyer and John 
Reynolds expire in 2007. 


 


2. Energy Trust bylaws require: 
• that directors may be elected at any meeting of the board of 


directors by a majority vote of the directors then in office; 
• that directors serve rotating three-year terms, so that no more than 


one-third of the directors then in office have terms expiring in any 
year; 


• upon the expiration of their three-year term, directors’ terms shall 
effectively end at the later of: (a) the next annual meeting of the 
board of directors following expiration of their term, or (b) when 
their successors have been elected and take office; and 







Discussion Minutes  February 14, 2007 


3 


• directors may serve for successive terms. 
 


It is therefore RESOLVED:   
 


1. Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors elects Debbie Kitchin, 
Vickie Liskey, Alan Meyer and John Reynolds, incumbent board 
members, to new terms of office that begin in 2007 and end in 2010. 


 


Moved by: Al Jubitz   Seconded by: Jason Eisdorfer 
 


Vote:    In favor: 9  Abstained: 0 
 


  Opposed: 0 
 
 Adopted on February 14, 2007, by the Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Rick reported Tom has agreed to serve as president for another year. John Reynolds and John 
Klosterman each have agreed to serve another year as vice president and treasurer, respectively. 
Debbie Kitchin has agreed to serve as secretary.  
 


RESOLUTION 424 
ELECTING OFFICERS OF  


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
 


WHEREAS: 
 


1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than the Executive 
Director and a Chief Financial Officer) are elected by the Board of 
Directors at the board’s annual meeting.  


 
2. A Board of Directors nominating committee has nominated the 


following directors to serve as officers for 2007: 
 


• Tom Foley, President 
• John Reynolds, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following as officers of 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., for 2007: 
 
• Tom Foley, President 
• John Reynolds, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 
 


 







Discussion Minutes  February 14, 2007 


4 


Moved by: Julie Hammond Seconded by: Al Jubitz 
 
Vote:  9 in favor  0 abstained 
 
Opposed: 0 
  


 Adopted on February 14, 2007, by the Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Margie recalls the board having been constituted originally in 2000, not 2001, as stated in the 
introduction to the board resolutions. (Staff researched the dates and confirmed that the board’s first 
official meeting was in 2001.)  
 
 
Audit Committee 
 
Julie Hammond noted the RFP for the financial auditor was issued in December. Proposals are due in 
April and a decision is expected by May 9.  
 
 
Finance Committee 
 
John Klosterman noted the preliminary year-end financials are included in the packet. Sue Meyer Sample 
noted the Finance Committee met last week and began discussions on the appropriate size of Energy 
Trust’s minimum cash reserve.  
 
Alan Meyer noted that (2006) incentive spending fell short of budget. Margie said on the electric 
efficiency side, spending came within approximately 6 percent of the total available budget and, we 
acquired savings at a lower cost than projected. Most of the unspent incentives are in gas, where 
carryover is being spent down each year and where forecasting remains difficult on the timing of 
renewables project. She added that we set more aggressive gas savings goals than could be achieved, 
though reserves were spent down by $1 million. At the same time, gas rates significantly increased. 
 
Tom Foley noted we have achieved 41% or our 2012 efficiency electric savings goal in less than one-half 
of our statutory life. He finds this reassuring. Margie said we expect to achieve 50% of the 2012 electric 
efficiency goal by the end of 2007.  
 
Rick Applegate left the meeting at 12:50 pm 
 
 
Program Evaluation Committee 
 
Alan Meyer reported the committee reviewed the Irrigation Initiative process evaluation and the 
Building Efficiency impact evaluation. He noted the committee also reviewed the NEEA evaluation, which 
found that NEEA’s residential sector market transformation efforts clearly provide value to Energy 
Trust, but the value to Energy Trust of NEEA’s commercial and industrial programs is less clear. Margie 
Harris said she will invite Margie Gardner, Executive Director NEEA, to a future board meeting to 
discuss these matters with the board. 
 
 







Discussion Minutes  February 14, 2007 


5 


Policy Committee 
 
Jason Eisdorfer reported progress made working with PGE to receive their Conservation Rate Credit 
funding. He said staff expects to bring some options for changing the green tag policy to the board in 
March. This policy would be impacted if the legislature creates a Renewable Energy Standard; it’s timely 
to begin considering potential impacts on our policy. He said the committee discussed the ongoing 
evaluation of the program delivery model, and noted the evaluation should consider the importance 
both of delivering services and building a clean energy business sector.  
 
John Volkman reported that residential customers are not required to report incentives as income to 
IRS. Thus, Energy Trust is not required to complete IRS 1099 forms for every residential customer. 
There has been considerable interest expressed in this review and findings by other nonprofit energy 
incentive programs around the country. John is speaking by telephone conference to the Clean Energy 
States Alliance on Friday, and the attorney who prepared the IRS analysis has agreed to participate in the 
conference on a pro-bono basis.  
 
Alan Meyer noted a typo in the committee notes. A large solar project is represented as “almost 1 
aMW” when it should be described as “almost 1 MW” in capacity.  
 
 
Legislative Update 
 
Jason referred to a description in the packet of bills introduced for consideration by the 2007 Oregon 
legislature. He said the Renewable Energy Standard bill has not yet emerged from the Legislative 
Counsel office, which is charged with drafting bills. It is expected toward the end of February. SB 87 is 
the bill OPUC introduced that would authorize the agency to increase the 3% public purpose charge. 
There was a hearing on that bill yesterday. More speakers testified for the bill than against it. The chair 
tried to bring the parties together to talk about compromise and collaboration; Jason did not know if 
this would be feasible. Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC) and Residential Energy Tax Credit (RETC) 
increases have been reported out of the House Energy and Natural Resources committee and are 
moving forward to the Revenue Committee. The governor announced that he expects to submit 
additional legislation to address global warming, including possibly a carbon cap-and-trade system. Jason 
expects significant action to come out of the legislature, although there is no certainty about which 
measures will pass.  
 
Al Jubitz noted that during the Stimson tour today, he learned that the company was constrained by 
OSHA requirements from lowering lights in one of the buildings, although only 10% of the building was 
occupied. Tom noted this problem could be addressed by installing occupancy sensors (which were 
installed at Stimson). 
 
 
Renewable Energy Program 
 
Portland Habilitation Center LLC Solar Photovoltaic Project. John Reynolds introduced this 
project, which would incorporate solar panels occupying an area larger than a football field. Betsy 
Kauffman, Open Solicitation Program manager, described the project as an 869.4 kW solar array on the 
roof of the Portland Habilitation Center’s new 110,000 square foot building, scheduled to be completed 
in November 2007. The project would increase solar capacity in Oregon by 35%. Staff calculates above-
market costs of $1,632,809 and recommends Energy Trust fund 75% of these costs out of both the 







Discussion Minutes  February 14, 2007 


6 


Open Solicitation and the Utility Scale programs. Portland Habilitation Center would be expected to 
raise $350,000; Betsy said staff proposes to provide $1 dollar from Energy Trust for every $2 raised by 
Portland Habilitation Center. She described the funding model, in which a private investor (Commercial 
Solar Ventures) would own the project for the first five years and claim the tax credits; after five years 
ownership will revert, or "flip," to the Portland Habilitation Center. 
 
Alan Meyer noted the first paragraph in the resolution refers to our 150 aMW generation goal, while 
the second paragraph refers to the generating capacity of the project. Tom proposed revising the 
sentence for clarity. 
 
John Murphy, Portland Habilitation Center executive director, explained his organization would pay 
Commercial Solar Ventures for power generated at a reduced rate compared to the cost of purchasing 
the power from PGE.  
 
Jason thinks it is a good project. Al Jubitz expressed confusion about the resolution’s wording with 
respect to transferring funds from the Utility Scale program to the Open Solicitation program, and 
wondered if it would be more appropriate to move the project and funding from Open Solicitation to 
Utility Scale? Peter said because the project came in through the Open Solicitation Program, he believed 
it makes sense to keep funds there.  
 
Ernie Munch, project architect, said this is the second building he has designed for Portland Habilitation 
Center. As the client wanted a sloping roof to avoid leaks, Ernie said it didn’t take them long to realize 
this roof was a perfect site for solar. John Murphy said Portland Habilitation Center has been in business 
for 50 years and takes the long view regarding its future role in the community. The solar system made 
sense to Portland Habilitation Center, because the ultimate mission of the organization is to provide 
jobs for disabled workers. The lower their utility costs, the more jobs they can create. They also 
envision potentially assembling solar panels at the manufacturing facility.  
 
Jason asked if there is a willingness and desire on the part of Portland Habilitation Center to draw public 
attention to the solar installation. Ernie said the financial deal still has to be finalized. Once that is in 
place, he said there will be a plan creating public awareness. The first building he completed with 
Portland Habilitation Center included a wetlands that became a demonstration site for the City of 
Portland Bureau of Environmental Services.  
 


RESOLUTION #423 


AUTHORIZING FUNDS FOR THE PORTLAND HABILITATION CENTER 
(PHC) LLC SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust’s renewable energy goal calls for generation of 150 
aMW by 2012. 


2. The PHC LLC Solar Photovoltaic project would provide 869.4 kW of 
nameplate capacity. 


3. The project’s generation is expected to cost up to $1,632,809 above-
market. Energy Trust would pay 75% of these costs (up to 
$1,236,750), and own green tags for years 3-20 of the project. 







Discussion Minutes  February 14, 2007 


7 


4. The project would be the largest photovoltaic system in Oregon, 
increasing total photovoltaic capacity in Oregon by about 35%, and 
helps demonstrate the viability of large-scale solar projects in 
Oregon.  


5. The project’s financing structure helps demonstrate a model by which 
non-taxable entities such as non-profits and municipalities can partner 
with investors to finance other large renewable energy systems. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


The board of directors of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.: 


1. Authorizes the transfer of $736,750 from the Utility-Scale Program 
budget to the Open Solicitation Program budget. 


2. Authorizes staff to enter into a funding agreement with PHC, LLC to 
commit up to $1,236,750 from the Open Solicitation Project budget. 


3. Requires that the funding agreement be consistent with the following 
terms: 


a. Project size: 869.4 kW solar photovoltaic array (nameplate 
capacity); 


b. Energy Trust payment will be in two parts: (1) up to 
$1,086,750 to the PHC Solar LLC, and (2) up to $150,000 to 
Portland Habilitation Center on a matching basis -- $1 in 
Energy Trust money for every $2 the Center raises for the 
project. 


c. Payment will be made when the project begins commercial 
operation. 


d. Energy Trust will own the project’s green tags for years 3-20 of 
the project. 


e. If the project fails to generate at least half its capability in any 
12-month period, or the project is terminated before the end 
of its 20-year life, the LLC will repay a pro-rated portion of the 
Energy Trust subsidy. Energy Trust must acquire appropriate 
security for such repayment. 


 


Moved by: John Reynolds  Seconded by: Al Jubitz 


Vote: In favor: 8 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 14, 2007, by the Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 


 
Migliori Small Wind Project. Alan Cowan reported Energy Trust expects to provide up to $24,125 
for a 42 kilowatt wind turbine at a residence north of Newburg. He expects it to demonstrate a mid-







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                 February 14, 2007 


8 


scale, rural energy wind application. Staff evaluated the project using the criteria established for the 
Open Solicitation Program and will be funded, appropriately, through the Small Wind program. No 
board action is required.  
 
 
Energy Efficiency Program 
 
Steve Lacey introduced a "walk-on" resolution to extend authorization for Energy Trust to continue 
funding energy efficiency activities in schools in 2007. The board previously authorized funds for those 
energy efficiency school measures identified in 2005-2006, provided schools use Energy Trust funds and 
SB 1149 school funds for different measures.  
 
Alan Meyer asked if schools contribute public purpose funds in proportion to the amount of funding 
received. Fred Gordon said they receive more than they contribute. Jason asked if funds for schools are 
included in the 2007 budget. Steve said they were, with a limit of no more than $2 million in 2007 to be 
spent from within the Existing and New Buildings program budgets. No funds were, or need to be, 
expressly added. 
 
Julie Hammond asked why the board felt obligated to develop the initial policy for school funding. Margie 
Harris said because schools also receive a specific allocation from the public purpose fund, it was 
thought necessary to obtain explicit approval from the board to also spend Energy Trust funds on 
schools. Schools also do not have sufficient funds to implement all cost effective efficiency measures 
identified in required energy audits.  
 
Al Jubitz wondered whether there are better uses for our funds than schools, since schools’ lights are 
off in the summer. Steve noted that Energy Trust is "cherry-picking" the best projects to fund. Steve 
added that many schools are open in summer and after school hours for community events, thus making 
their usage profiles much like commercial buildings. Steve said by supporting electric projects, we can 
also leverage gas projects. 
 


RESOLUTION #426 


EXTENDING AUTHORIZATION FOR SCHOOLS FUNDING TO 2007 


WHEREAS: 
 
1.  The Energy Trust Board of Directors has previously 


authorized funds for energy efficiency measures in SB 1149 
schools for 2005-2006, subject to certain limitations:  


 
• SB 1149 schools may not use Energy Trust funds and other 


SB 1149 school funds on the same electric energy efficiency 
measure. 


• Each electric energy efficiency measure must pass the cost-
effectiveness test for the Building Efficiency program or the 
New Building Efficiency program. 


 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                 February 14, 2007 


9 


2.  Energy savings estimates, measures costs and other data 
identified in the school district audits will be accepted by the 
Building Efficiency and New Building Efficiency programs. 


 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


The board of directors of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. authorizes Energy 
Trust to make funds available for SB 1149 schools subject to these same 
limitations in 2007. 
 


 


Moved by: Julie Hammond Seconded by: John Reynolds 


Vote: In favor: 8 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 Adopted on February 14, 2007, by the Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Staff Report 
 
Quarter 4 2006 Report to the Board of Directors. Margie Harris reviewed highlights of the Q4 
2006 report. She noted the extraordinarily high volume of activity in the fourth quarter, compared to 
other quarters, during which 49% of annual electric savings and 43% of annual gas savings were acquired. 
Preliminary electric savings are 110% of our best case goal, though spending totaled only 90% of budget. 
On the gas side, we achieved 90% of our conservative case goal, reflecting overly ambitious goals for the 
year. For renewables, we continue work with PGE to evaluate above-market costs of the proposed 
Biglow Canyon 125 MW wind project. We also have a letter of intent to fund the Mar-Lu 4.5 MW 
community wind project and continue negotiating on the 10 MW Gordon Ridge community wind 
project. A number of renewable projects were delayed due to uncertainty regarding the federal 
production tax credit extension and a shortage of available wind turbines.  
 
Margie noted that out of our eight efficiency programs, five exceeded their best case goals in 2006. The 
Efficient New Homes program fell short because of a decline in housing starts. The Building Operations 
and Tune-up program underperformed as well, a result of developing the program budget before the 
program design was complete.  
 
She explained staff will come to the board at its next meeting, March 28, with proposed changes to the 
2007 budget. This anticipated action will principally reflect carryover of funds expected to be spent in 
Q4 and that were carried forward into 2007 due to project completion delays.  
 
Staff Report. Margie reported she participated in a joint West Coast Public Utility Commission 
meeting in San Francisco December 1 and presented highlights of our industrial program. She also 
accepted a last-minute request from Debbie Kitchin to speak on a panel before the Oregon annual 
meeting of Commercial Real Estate Women (CREW) January 18.  
 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                February 14, 2007 


10 


Margie provided an update of the program delivery model evaluation and the selection of Research Into 
Action as the contractor. She is particularly interested in learning how to strengthen the model. She 
reported on meetings with Lockheed Martin, Conservation Services Group and Portland Energy 
Conservation Inc. representatives as part of her periodic discussions to solicit comments and ideas from 
them on their working relationship with Energy Trust. 
 
The annual Savings with a Twist campaign resulted in sales increasing 54% over 2005 numbers. Margie 
then highlighted proposed incentive changes in the Home Energy Solutions program reviewed by the 
CAC in January and to be discussed again at the February meeting. In January, the CAC supported 
incentive changes in the Production Efficiency program. She noted the City of Portland has launched a 
Solar Now! campaign to promote installation of solar electric and water heating systems in Portland.  
 
Responding to an inquiry from John Reynolds, Peter West said we have revised our contract with the 
City of Albany for its small hydro project. Albany now plans to buy new equipment, rather than 
refurbished equipment; still a good project, the timeline is longer.  
 
Jason Eisdorfer said the Renewable Energy Standard (RES) discussion raises the question of whether 
Energy Trust will want to fund renewable energy projects unless those projects also generate green tags 
that count toward the RES, if one is established.  
 
Margie noted the Biopower program has a number of projects in the development stage. She noted 
trainings for solar contractors are beginning to attract plumbers and electricians, demonstrating growing 
interest in the solar field by the trades. She noted we are working with PGE on a program that would, if 
it goes forward, offer no-interest loans for PV systems on the utility bills of residential customers. She 
mentioned trainings offered to contractors and trade allies on ODOE’s tax credit and loan programs. 
She noted telephone volumes are going down while web usage is growing. We are currently preparing 
our annual trade ally survey.  
 
Julie Hammond asked if we see differences in results between those contacting us by telephone and 
those using the web. Jan Schaeffer said that to date, we have not tracked the rates of individual callers or 
web visitors participating in our programs. 
 
Margie highlighted two new hires. Leana Matthews replaces Sung Koko as our receptionist. Lee Litchy 
has joined an advertising/marketing agency called Smashing Ideas and we were fortunate to hire Michel 
Gregory to fill his Senior Communications and Marketing position.  
 
Margie said we have made significant progress toward engaging a firm to conduct our IT “enterprise 
architecture” study, with first round interviews completed and a selection imminent.  
 
She then referenced a letter in the packet from Sierra Pine Composite Solutions, thanking Energy Trust 
for its $410,000 incentive check used to upgrade the company’s dust collection system.  
 
Energy Efficiency Program Mix. Jill Steiner, Manager of Planning and Economic Analysis, said the 
planning staff annually revises its long-term forecast, using best available information including: 2006 
true-up, strategic plan projections, long-range revenue forecast and 2006 program results. Summarizing 
her conclusions, Jill stated Energy Trust could come close to achieving its 300 aMW long-term electric 
savings goal and could surpass the gas goal. She said we expect to acquire more than half the available 
efficiency resource in the residential and industrial sectors, with less in the commercial sector. She 
noted market transformation is an important component of the program mix, especially for the 
residential sector.  







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                February 14, 2007 


11 


 
Alan Meyer asked about market transformation, and whether our assumptions are tied exclusively to 
NEEA spending. Fred Gordon, Director of Planning & Evaluation, said we analyze how our own 
investments are transforming some markets, such as clothes washers and LED streetlights.  
 
Jill said a recommendation to increase our gas levelized cost cap from 30 cents to 40 cents is on the 
OPUC consent agenda later this month. If this is approved, we will present the board with a 
recommendation to raise our 2012 gas goal to 21 million annual therms, up from 19 million annual 
therms.  
 
Julie asked if there is anything the board can do to stimulate gas projects. Margie said she thinks 
everyone is cooperating and optimistic about increasing participation on the gas side. Fred said this year 
we are combining additional market research and with more aggressive marketing activities. We are also 
influencing new technologies coming to market at a national level and anticipate impacts from this to 
begin in 2008. Alan suggested an increase in incentives would help. His furnace went out last week, and 
he could not economically justify replacing it with a 90+ high efficiency furnace. This anecdote triggered 
board discussion of other personal experiences with efficiency purchase decisions.  
 
 
Adjourn 
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:25 pm 
 
Next meeting. The next meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held Wednesday, 
March 28, 2007, at 12:00 noon at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200, 
Portland, Oregon. 








 


 


 


 


Board Decision 
Committee Assignments 
March 28, 2007 


Note:  This resolution is a placeholder. Committee appointments will be finalized 
at the board meeting. 


 


RESOLUTION #434 


BOARD COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 


WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors is authorized to 
appoint by resolution committees to carry out the Board’s business. 


2. The Board President has nominated several new directors to serve on 
the following committees. 


3. The Board of Directors approved the appointments at its March 28, 2007, 
meeting. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. That the Board of Directors hereby ratifies the appointments of the 
following directors to the following committees for terms that will 
continue until a subsequent resolution to change committee 
appointments is adopted: 


 


 


(names below are current members) 


 


 


Audit Committee  


 Julie Hammond, Chair 


 Alexis Dow, Metro 


 Vickie Liskey 


 Caddy McKeown 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 







Board Committee Appointments March 28, 2007 


 


 


Page 2 of 3 


Board Nominating Committee 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Julie Hammond 


 Preston Michie 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 


Compensation Committee (formerly 401(k) Committee) 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Al Jubitz 


 Vickie Liskey 


 Preston Michie 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 


Executive Director Review Committee 


 John Reynolds, Chair 


 Julie Hammond 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 


Finance Committee 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Debbie Kitchin 


 Preston Michie 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 


Policy Committee 


 Jason Eisdorfer, Chair 


 Rick Applegate 


 Caddy McKeown 


 John Reynolds 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 


Program Evaluation Committee 


 Debbie Kitchin, Chair 


 Alan Meyer 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 


Strategic Planning Committee (formerly Innovation Task Force) 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Al Jubitz 


 Bill Nesmith, ODOE 


 Syed Rezvi, OPUC 


 Tom Foley (ex officio) 







Board Committee Appointments March 28, 2007 


 


 


Page 3 of 3 


 


2. The executive director and general counsel, former members of the 
Energy Trust 401(k) committee, are authorized to sign routine 401(k) 
administrative documents on behalf of the board, or other documents if 
authorized by the Compensation Committee. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 


 
Board Decision 
Change in Executive Director Compensation 
March 28, 2007 


Summary 
This action would approve an increase in the Energy Trust Executive Director's salary and 
authorize a performance bonus.  


Background 
• The Executive Director Review Committee (John Reynolds, chair, Julie Hammond and 


Tom Foley, ex officio) has completed the Executive Director's 2006 performance 
review. 


• The Committee recommends that the Executive Director's compensation be increased 
by 5%, retroactive to January 1, 2007, that she be awarded a cash bonus of $2,500, and 
that the board consider this matter on the consent agenda.    


Recommendation 
The Executive Director Review Committee  recommends that the board approve the following 
resolution:


RESOLUTION #428 


AUTHORIZING A CHANGE IN EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S 
COMPENSATION 


WHEREAS:  


The Energy Trust's Executive Director Evaluation Committee has completed its 
review of the Executive Director's performance, and recommends a five percent 
raise in salary and a $2,500 bonus. 


It is RESOLVED: 


 That the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes a 5% 
increase in the Executive Director's compensation, effective January 1, 2007, 
together with a $2,500 bonus for her performance in 2006. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2007 Files\07 03 28\Final\Acceptance of  Audited Finls_nk_v01.doc    


 
 


 


 


 
Board Decision 
Acceptance of Audited Financial Report 
March 28, 2007 
 
 
Purpose 
 


Paragraph 3.a.iii(A) of the grant agreement with the PUC requires that annual financial statements be 
audited by an outside independent certified public accountant.  This resolution accepts the audited 
financial report prepared by Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended December 31, 2006, 
as recommended by the audit committee.   
 
Committee Review 
 


Reviewed by the Audit Committee. 
 
 


RESOLUTION #430 
ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT 


 
BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board 
of Directors accepts the audited financial statement report, 
including unqualified opinion, prepared and submitted by 
Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended 
December 31, 2006. 
 
 
Moved by: _____________ Seconded by: _______________ 


 
Vote: _____ In favor _____ Opposed _____ Abstain 
 
Adopted on (date) _______ by Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors. 


 
   
 








 
 


 
Finance Report 
February 8, 2007   
 
 
The Finance Committee met at 7:30 am on November 30, 2006, with Debbie Kitchin, board 
member; Margie Harris, executive director; Sue Sample, chief financial officer; and Pati Presnail, 
controller, in attendance. John Klosterman, treasurer, was out of town and did not attend. Neither 
Preston Michie nor Tom Foley attended. 
 
Review December 2006 Financial Statements 
Sue presented the preliminary financial statements for December 2006. Based on those preliminary 
numbers we finished the year with more carryover than we had budgeted. Highlights of the variance 
were: 
 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $3.1 million (5.6% variance) 
o Source:  increases in rates approved subsequent to budget preparation 
o Utility forecasts generally conservative 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $1.6 million  
o Interest rates more than doubled over previous year 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending 


• Expenses overall below budget by $35.6 million (43%) 
o By line item 


 Incentives $31.5 million (88% of expense variance) 
• Primarily utility scale incentives budgeted but not yet paid  
• Gas incentives from delays in project completions and overly optimistic goals 


 Program subcontracts $3 million (8.4% of expense variance) 
• Performance incentives yet to be recorded 
• Adjustments will increase expense 


o By division 
 Energy efficiency 


• Electric efficiency $4 million underspent (10%) 
• Gas efficiency $3.6 million underspent (28%) 


 Renewable energy 
• $28 million underspent from budget—primarily utility scale (PGE) 
• Have changed the way we budget renewables to reflect spending patterns 


better; differences between accounting versus activity perspectives 
 
Debbie requested that an analysis, similar to the one above, be included as part of the financial 
statement package (or as part of the presentation) at least on a quarterly basis. Staff agreed to 
prepare a summary page highlighting major points and helping interpret statement results. 
 
November 2006 Financial Statements 
The November financial statements provided to the committee in late December offered no new 
insights other than those reflected in the December statements; the committee focused its review 
on December’s presentation.  
 







Finance Report  February 8, 2007 


 2


Forecasted Commitments 
Sue presented the results of the 1st quarter forecast for 2007 incentives. This work was prepared 
by Pati incorporating the forecast of incentives (incentives only) prepared by the PMC’s and the 
sector managers. The forecast for 2007 shows incentives to be approximately $700k below what 
was adopted in the 2007 budget. The distribution of that variance is reflected in the incentive 
forecast document (also prepared by Pati). Pati described the major variance as being in the new 
buildings sector. Debbie responded that this coincided with what she has been hearing about 
prospects in commercial construction lately. 
 
Of the forecasted incentive amounts at this point, approximately 30% are committed to specific 
projects. 
 
These figures will change upon the re-budgeting effort planned for the March 2007 Board meeting; 
the revised budget will reflect the allocation of additional carryover funding plus the potential 
addition of Conservation Rate Credit funds. 
 
Margie would like to have the committed amounts displayed on a financial statement to ensure that 
people are aware that much of our funding is committed even when we don’t spend in exactly the 
same time frame as budgeted. Sue and Pati said they would work to display that in such a way so as 
not to confuse historical spending and future commitments with one another. (This may appear on 
the summary sheet accompanying the financials.) 
 
Cash Reserve Requirement 
The committee had a preliminary discussion about the topic originally discussed at the December 
board meeting about minimum cash reserves. In addressing a concern that surfaced about how to 
portray the reserve requirement in the easiest possible way to understand it, Sue expressed 
reluctance to use a standard “rule of thumb” or formula type of approach, such as a percentage of 
revenue. She prefers to retain the flexibility to reflect the reality of the organizational risk at the 
time of consideration. Debbie and Margie both agreed. For example, using six months’ operating 
expenses doesn’t reflect our risk and would require us to keep $30 million in reserve, which could 
severely hamper our operations. For individuals and other nonprofits with more unstable funding, 
this methodology could be much more relevant. 
 
Debbie said she liked the methodology we had used; it made sense from her experience in the field 
and her knowledge of our revenue patterns. Our major risk is that we won’t receive the amount of 
revenue projected from some weather-related cause and she believes a 4-month, 10% reduction 
serves as a reasonable estimate of that exposure. 
 
Once we have more of our cash balances in escrow, we may want to consider increasing our 
reserves to maintain our compliance with funding requirements in place at that time. Since we are 
addressing the reserve requirement on an annual basis in the budgeting process, any additional 
limitations can be factored in at that time. 
 
Next Finance Committee Meeting 
Sue suggested moving the date of the next Finance committee meeting to March 13th so that Pati and 
she would have more time to prepare the budget documents for the committee to review prior to 
the March board meeting. Planning has begun already, but we will be incorporating additional service 
territories to record the CRC activity in this budget round which will require additional effort. 
Debbie said she would check her calendar and respond. Sue will contact John K. when he returns. 








 
 
Finance Report 
March 13, 2007 
 
 
The Finance Committee met at 7:30 am on March 13, 2007, with John Klosterman, treasurer; 
Debbie Kitchin, Margie Harris and Pati Presnail in attendance. Tom Foley, Preston Michie, and Sue 
Sample were unable to attend.  
 
Review FINAL December 2006 financial statements 
Pati presented the final financial statements for December 2006, along with an explanation page, 
which was added in response to a request made at the previous meeting. The new explanation page 
will help draw attention to significant variances and the reasons for them. John and Debbie said they 
find the information helpful.  
 


• No significant changes from version already presented to Finance Committee 
• Net affect of adjustments made less than $2 thousand 
• Public purpose revenue above budget by $3.1 million (5.6% variance) 


o Source:  increases in rates approved subsequent to budget preparation 
o Utility forecasts generally conservative 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $1.6 million  
o Interest rates more than doubled over previous year 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending 


• Expenses overall below budget by $35.6 million (43%) 
o By line item 


 Incentives $31.5 million (88.5% of expense variance) 
• Primarily utility scale incentives budgeted but not yet paid  
• Gas incentives from delays in project completions and overly optimistic goals 
• Program subcontracts $3 million (8.3% of expense variance) 


o By division 
 Energy efficiency 


• Electric efficiency $4 million underspent (10%) 
• Gas efficiency $3.6 million underspent (28%) 


 Renewable energy 
• $28 million underspent from budget—primarily utility scale (PGE) 
• Have changed the way we budget renewables to reflect spending patterns 


better; differences between accounting versus activity perspectives 
 
The final changes derive from a $100,000 decrease in NEEA support, which is estimated and then 
trued-up quarterly, offset by an accrual for 2006 PMC performance compensation of $99,000, based 
on savings achieved, to be paid in 2007. In addition, three small invoices were recorded late in the 
process. All of the changes were made prior to the audit and were included in the auditors’ scope. 
 
In reference to the cash flow analysis, John said cash remains high through 2007, with decreases 
occurring in 2008 and later. Pati pointed out that much of the cash is spoken for as renewable 
project dedicated funds. Those costs will be recorded as expense as they are paid in 2008 and 2009.  
 
The committee asked that staff ensure the term “dedicated funds” appears in the glossary of 
financial terms.  







Finance Report  March 13, 2007 


 2


 2006 audit 
The committee inquired about the progress of the external financial audit. Margie informed them 
that the audit is complete and we received a clean opinion. Margie said the auditors enjoyed 
working on the Energy Trust audit. 
 
2007 budget 
Pati presented the most recent 2007 budget reallocation, to be proposed for board approval on 
March 28, 2007. The March budget realignment was anticipated back in December in order to 
reallocate any funds left remaining from 2006. All changes noted below compare the original 2007 
budget to this most recent proposal. 
 
Net increase in resources is $5.8 million: 


 Adding $5.8 million more in resources to carry forward from 2006 to 2007 
 Adding $1.9 million of electric conservation rate credit funds 
 Subtracting $1.6 million in PGE funds due to change in PGE forecast 
 Subtracting $.3 million in Avista funds due to change in Avista contract 


 
Net increase in expenditure is $3.7 million: 


 Adding $1.7 million to incentives 
 Adding $1.2 million in program delivery costs to support more activity 
 Adding $187,000 for evaluation 
 Adding $376,000 for program marketing 
 Adding $78,000 for a staff position to support CRC activities and benefits 
 Adding $5,000 for the 5 year anniversary celebration 
 And adding another $70,000 for all other expenses 


 
Projection of 2008 expenditures increased by $1.9 million in incentives due to deferral of projects 
from 2007 to 2008. 
 
Debbie suggested several opportunities for attracting commercial projects, including participating in 
the BetterBricks seminars and perhaps doing a press release announcing that more funds are being 
added to the budget (which might also help combat perception that Energy Trust is “out of 
money”). 
 
Margie noted that she will be working with Pati later today to develop board presentation materials. 
Advice from the committee regarding level of detail and call-outs is appreciated.  
 
Next steps in the budget reallocation are review by the policy committee, RAC and CAC (advisory 
committees), and a full presentation at the upcoming board meeting. 
 
Margie asked Debbie and John to consider the merits of a two-year budget cycle, to align with the 
two-year planning cycle. This proposal will go before the policy committee for further discussion. 
 
Guidelines for reserve funds from interest 
The discussion was postponed to the next meeting when Sue will be able to participate. 
 
Next Meeting 
The next meeting of the Finance Committee is scheduled for Monday, April 9, 3:30 pm. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:30 am. 
 








  


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Amending 2007 Budget 
March 28, 2007 


Summary 
To amend the Energy Trust budget for 2007. 


 


Background 
• A proposed final budget for 2007 and projections for 2008 were adopted by the board at its 


December, 2006 meeting. 


• Staff has completed review of end-of-year financial information (especially carry-over funds), and 
has nearly completed negotiations with PGE and BPA over the Conservation Rate Credit funds.  


• Greater than expected carry-over will increase 2007 funds by $5.8 million available, primarily 
due to uncompleted 2006 projects. The Conservation Rate credit is expected to provide an 
additional $1.9 million. These increases are offset by PGE and Avista revenue shortfalls of about 
$1.9 million. The net is $5.8 million available for reallocation. 


• Staff has proposed budget adjustments to allocate these funds. Attachment A is a summary of 
the proposed adjustments. 


• These recommendations were reviewed by the board Finance and Policy Committees and 
Conservation and Renewable Energy advisory councils. 


 


Recommendation 
Staff recommends amendment of the 2007 Energy Trust budget with changes noted in the resolution below 
[if any]. 


RESOLUTION #431 
AMENDMENT OF 2007 BUDGET 


BE IT RESOLVED: That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors approves the changes to the 2007 budget as presented in the 
board budget packet and summarized in Attachment A to this resolution, 
with the following changes [if any]: 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


  







Attachment A 


The Energy Trust of Oregon
Program Budget Expenses by Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007
Budget 2007-B-05 (March reallocation)


                                          with management and general allocated to programs


Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal B-04.7
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Previous Difference


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 4,914,134    4,364,202    9,278,336         4,252,804    226,409       -               4,479,213       13,757,549  12,081,990  1,675,559    
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 3,870,397    2,689,328    6,559,725         2,990,165    372,818       229,627       3,592,610       10,152,335  9,385,854    766,481       
Market Transformation (NEEA) 632,189       476,354       1,108,543         -               -               -               -                  1,108,543    1,022,954    85,589         


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------------------------
  Total Residential 9,416,720 7,529,884 16,946,604 7,242,969 599,227 229,627 8,071,823 25,018,427 22,490,798 2,527,629


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 4,626,251    1,567,255    6,193,506         1,693,471    97,870         -               1,791,341       7,984,847    6,633,496    1,351,351    
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,762,060    2,130,491    4,892,551         608,062       63,470         -               671,532          5,564,083    6,920,660    (1,356,577)   
Market Transformation (NEEA) 1,028,727    775,144       1,803,871         -               -               -               -                  1,803,871    1,730,532    73,339         


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------------------------
  Total Commercial 8,417,038 4,472,890 12,889,928 2,301,533 161,340 0 2,462,873 15,352,801 15,284,688 68,113


Industrial
Production Efficiency 7,159,160    6,788,590    13,947,750       -               -               -               -                  13,947,750  13,038,520  909,230       
Market Transformation (NEEA) 604,316       455,352       1,059,668         -               -               -               -                  1,059,668    1,002,395    57,273         


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------------------------
  Total Industrial 7,763,476 7,243,942 15,007,418 0 0 0 0 15,007,418 14,040,915 966,503


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------------------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 25,597,234 19,246,716 44,843,950 9,544,502 760,567 229,627 10,534,696 55,378,646 51,816,401 3,562,245


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- ----------------- ------------------------------------
Renewables
Utility Scale Projects 1,565,651    2,977,322    4,542,973         -               -               -               -                  4,542,973    5,329,109    (786,136)      
Solar 1,827,939    1,191,173    3,019,112         -               -               -               -                  3,019,112    2,977,391    41,721         
Wind 785,381       570,413       1,355,794         -               -               -               -                  1,355,794    1,359,955    (4,161)          
Open Solicitation 1,703,085    427,612       2,130,697         -               -               -               -                  2,130,697    1,252,352    878,345       
Biopower 1,283,088    247,009       1,530,097         -               -               -               -                  1,530,097    1,539,749    (9,652)          


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------------------------------------------------
  Renewables Program Costs 7,165,144 5,413,529 12,578,673 0 0 0 0 12,578,673 12,458,556 120,117


----------------- ----------------- -------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- ------------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 32,762,378 24,660,245 57,422,623 9,544,502 760,567 229,627 10,534,696 67,957,319 64,274,957 3,682,362  
 








 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated March 28, 2007 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated3/28/07   


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


 
Carryover Funds 


• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 
category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated3/28/07   


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 


FastTrack Projects ForecastingModule developed in FastTrack to provide information about the 
timing of future incentive payments, with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 







Financial Glossary updated3/28/07   


4 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
(Proposal to merge this category with Service incentives once method to determine tax 
status incorporated into FastTrack rather than requiring GL coding.) 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
III. Service Incentives 


• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 
to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 
Indirect Costs 


• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 
charges to programs.  


• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 


 







Financial Glossary updated3/28/07   


5 


Outsourced Services 
• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 


internal staff. 
• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 


 
Program Costs 


• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 
program approval process.  


• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 
assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 


• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 
 


Program Delivery Expense  
• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 


coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Trade ally training pertaining to program delivery (Steve proposing to move to Service Incentives 


pending PUC staff approval, as it’s Market Transformation activity and TA participants as well as 
customers are beneficiaries.) 


 
Program Legal Services 


• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-
specific contract. 


 
Program Management Expense  


• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 
etc. 


• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 
 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 







Financial Glossary updated3/28/07   


6 


& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 


savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 







Financial Glossary updated3/28/07   


7 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 
True Up 


• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 
energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2007 Files\07 03 28\Final\Evaluation Committee Report Feb 2007 vII_FINAL.doc 


 
 


Evaluation Committee Report 
February 23, 2007 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 


The Evaluation Committee met on February 23, 2007, with Debbie Kitchin, chair; Alan Meyer, 
board member; Margie Harris, Executive Director; Fred Gordon, Director of Planning and 
Evaluation;  Philipp Degens, Evaluation Manager; Phillip Kelsven, Evaluation Analyst;  Steve Lacey, 
Director of Energy Efficiency;  Jill Steiner, Manager of Planning and Economic Analysis, Ken 
Keating, Bonneville Power Administration; Don Dohrmann, ADM Associates; Mugi Lukito, ADM 
Associates; Steven Scott, Strategic Energy Group; Brian Crumrine, Strategic Energy Group. The 
meeting began at 10:00 AM with an overview of the meeting’s agenda.  
 
Philipp Degens presented the results of the draft report of the 2005 Building Efficiency Impact 
Evaluation. The evaluation documents the program’s gross and net energy savings, as well as a 
survey of decision makers. The evaluation’s highlights are: 
 


• Total program electric savings are 58,967,894 kWh, and 18.2 MW. 
• Total program therm savings are 334,028 therms.  
• The electric savings are 104% of expected kWh savings, and 75% of expected therm 


savings.  
• For lighting projects, the monitored hours and the expected hours varied less than 30%. 
• For HVAC, custom building, and VFD measures, most discrepancies were found where 


engineering calculations were used to estimate the savings in lieu of modeling. 
• Program appears to have greater difficulty estimating gas savings. 
• Freeridership rates are 13% for electric and 4% for gas. 
• 21% of the participants purchased additional energy efficient equipment as a result of the 


program. 
• Overall satisfaction rate with the program is 85%. 
• Equipment vendors or contractors are primary source by which participants learned 


about the program. 
• 84% of participants state that incentive payments are very important in their decision 


making. 
  


The Evaluation recommended the following: 
 


• Building simulation should be used to calculate savings estimate rather than engineering 
estimates whenever possible. 


• Next evaluation should rely on a smaller sample of electric sites, and focus on estimating 
gas savings more precisely.  


 
Discussion about the evaluation included: 
 


• The upcoming billing analysis should verify and improve upon the savings impacts in this 
report. 







Evaluation Committee Report    February 23, 2007 


 2


• The evaluation findings should be communicated with the PMC’s and ATAC’s to 
improve the program. Staff assured committee that this is happening and will continue 
to happen. 


• VFD savings may be underestimated. 
• kW demand reductions are important to quantify and should be included  in impact 


evaluations. 
• The low realization rates for custom gas measures are a concern. 
• The same freerider methodology should be used for BE and PE evaluations. 
• Dr. Keating pointed out that the freerider weighting and scoring scheme appeared to be 


biased toward decreasing freeridership, and that the weighting approach was not well 
argued. He specifically pointed out:  "When someone says that they were planning on 
doing the measure before they participated in the program; that they had the resources 
to do it; and that your incentive did not have an influence on their decision, and you still 
treat them as 40% net participant, you have a clear bias in the algorithm."   This 
comment was in reference to one of the two free rider weighting schemes presented in 
the meeting. The Board members agreed with staff recommendations to move 
discussion of freeridership measurement to another meeting when it could be discussed 
in terms applicable to multiple programs and in greater detail. Meanwhile, the 
contractor and staff are reexamining the approach taken in these draft evaluations. 


• Evaluation committee will take up the freerider methodology discussion in more detail 
at a meeting  in May. 


 
Philipp Degens presented the findings of the 2003-2005Production Efficiency Impact Evaluation. 
The evaluation documents the program’s gross and net energy savings, as well as a survey of 
decision makers. The study’s highlights are: 
 


• The program achieved 259,891,701 kWh savings, and an estimated 41,600 kW demand 
reduction. 


• The achieved savings are 93.2% of expected kWh savings. This is an average of 114% in 
2004 and 83% in 2005. There were only 2 sites in 2003. 


• Large variation in savings are due to a variety of factors such as changes in use, measure 
performance, lack of baseline or documentation, or the use of engineering calculations. 


• Most projects are correctly installed and operating. 
• Freeridership estimates resulted in a 5.1% reduction in program kWh savings.  
• Satisfaction is high with 93% of participants stating they are satisfied or very satisfied. 
• 80% participants had received an Energy Trust or BETC incentive previous to current 


project studied. 
• 12% of participants have energy management plans, and 57% have a staff person in 


charge of energy efficiency projects and policies. 
• 41% of participants heard of program through vendors. 
• 36% of the participants purchased additional energy efficient equipment as a result of the 


program. 
• Audit-only  participants were interviewed: 


• Primary reasons for not participating are: project did not meet firms’ payback 
criteria and the timing of the incentive.  


• Audits appear to be a good lead into energy efficiency projects with 25% completed 
project without incentive. 







Evaluation Committee Report    February 23, 2007 


 3


 
The Evaluation recommended the following: 
 


• A greater use of sub-metering should be used to determine baseline conditions.  
• Engineering calculations should be reviewed. 
• Energy Trust should follow up with larger customers to review how equipment is 


working. 
• Megaprojects should be monitored from the beginning. 
• Follow up with projects where evaluation identified issues. 
• Program changes should be consistently communicated to customers, vendors, and 


ATAC’s. 
• Evaluation expectations should be communicated to customer early in the project. 


 
Discussion about the evaluation included: 
 


• Wastewater, irrigation, and freshwater projects are a concern due to a low realization 
rate. These sites may not be operating as expected.  


• Negative savings, particularly for wastewater, irrigation, and freshwater projects were 
not considered because they cannot be attributed to the project. 


• Need to use efficiency savings for estimating impacts where appropriate and be 
consistent. 


• Issues with freeriders are the same as that pointed out above and Dr. Keating’s point on 
bias also pertains to this program estimate. 


• Weaknesses of the program need to be identified and shared with contractors. Why are 
firms not participating? 


 
Next month’s evaluation committee meeting will include: 
 


• Discussion of Energy Trust coordination with NEEA 
• The Solar PV evaluation 
• NBE 2004 Impact evaluation 
• Nexus Evaluation 
• Energy Trust’s Program Contracting and Delivery Model evaluation 


 
 


    
 
 








 
 
 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
March 13, 2007, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds (by telephone), Margie Harris, Steve Lacey, Peter 
West, Jan Schaefer, Fred Gordon, Adam Serchuk, Pati Presnail and John Volkman. 
 
1.         Green tag policy: Peter West proposed a modification to the green tag policy. Under 
the current policy, Energy Trust takes green tags in proportion to its contribution to above-
market cost. In effect, green tag values are not determined by the market, but by whatever the 
project’s above-market cost happens to be. We are experiencing difficulty reaching agreement 
with owners and developers for the best projects because of this policy. High-value projects are 
more willing to gamble on green tag market values and see our policy ascribing an arbitrary 
value to them. The staff proposal would retain this approach but, on an interim basis, provide an 
alternative: use green tag market values in calculating project above-market costs if staff 
concludes, based on an independent assessment of green tag market values, that these values 
are credible. Energy Trust would then take ownership of as many green tags as its above-market 
incentive would buy on the market. This approach would be revisited in a year to see if it is 
working. 
 
 Jason asked if getting reliable market estimates is feasible. Peter said that he had asked a 
consultant for ideas about how they might assess these values. The consultant suggested that in 
addition to an independent market appraisal, Energy Trust could itself buy and sell green tags to 
see if the values it sees are consistent with the appraisal. Even then, however, getting values 
more than ten years out may be infeasible. Peter noted that the proposed option should make it 
easier for projects to deal with Energy Trust, but would require Energy Trust to do more work.  
 
 Jason asked if this alternative makes any assumptions about whether a Renewable 
Energy Act is passed by the legislature. Peter said it does not; we developed this approach 
independent of legislative proposals. If the legislature adopts an approach to renewable energy 
that makes this option problematic, we can revisit the matter. 
 
 Peter noted that Tom Foley had given us several comments on the proposal. He 
supports the approach and had several observations that would clarify it.  
 
 The committee endorsed the approach. Peter will take it to the RAC and, if there are 
no unforeseen issues, propose it to the board at its March 28 meeting. 
  
2. Legislative update. Jason briefed the committee on the Oregon Renewable Energy Act 
(see attached summary). Several interest groups have made progress toward agreement on a 
Renewable Energy Act, and it is likely that a bill will be reported out of committee next week. 
The bill will face some opposition, but has a good prospect of carrying the Senate and 
reasonable prospects in the House. The bill would extend the public purpose fund to 2026 and 
require all the renewable energy funds to be used for projects of 20 MW or less. The investor-
owned utilities would be required to prepare implementation plans by January 1, 2010. The 
current version of the bill would have it take effect on the governor’s signature, but this may be 
extended to January 1, 2008, which would fit much better with Energy Trust’s budget and 
planning cycle. Jason suggests that if the bill is enacted, Energy Trust should be involved in the 
utilities’ implementation planning. 







Policy Committee notes  March 13, 2007 


2 


 
 John Reynolds noted that it would be unfortunate if the bill didn’t allow public purpose 
funding for solar project above 20 MW. Jason said that the bill would not allow such funding; 
those involved in this version of the bill were reluctant to begin making special provisions for 
particular technologies.  
 
3. Warm Springs biomass project. Adam Serchuk briefed the committee on a biomass 
project staff is negotiating a term sheet with the Warm Springs Tribe. The project would be a 
20-megawatt (nameplate, or about 14 average MW) facility that would use forest, sawmill, and 
urban wood waste. The project will require a total investment of about $46,000,000 and a 
multi-million dollar Energy Trust subsidy. The developer owner would be Warm Springs 
Biomass, LLC, consisting of the Tribe and a prospective outside investor. The project has an 
excellent fuel supply plan. The Tribe is exploring a power purchase agreement with PGE, which 
would entail the tribe building a transmission line to a PGE line (the line the Tribe builds could 
be used for future renewable projects on the reservation). Staff is still analyzing the project’s 
above-market costs, but the project looks attractive. Staff has proposed an ambitious negotiating 
schedule, and if all goes well would like to get board approval of the major terms at the next 
board meeting.  
 
 One issue is that PGE would like to take title to the project’s green tags, which raises 
some staff concerns given that PGE would be paying for project energy at its avoided cost. Staff 
and PGE are discussing whether to put the project under the master agreement, which would 
take care of the green tag issue, or negotiate a special understanding for this project. Jason said 
that he would not readily accede to the idea that PGE should take all the green tags without 
some protections.  
 
 Jason suggested staff think about how the project would fit Energy Trust’s portfolio if a 
Renewable Energy Act is adopted putting a 20 MW cap on the use of public purpose funds. He 
also noted that a proposed biofuel bill may define biomass in a way that could affect this project, 
and will provide that definition to staff. 
 
4. Preview of budget adjustments. Staff has completed its review of end-of-year financial 
information (especially carry-over funds), and negotiations with PGE and BPA over the 
Conservation Rate Credit funds are nearing completion. Both things affect Energy Trust 2007 
funding and staff is proposing budget adjustments. Staff handed out a draft PowerPoint 
presentation highlighting potential budget adjustments which, with modifications based on the 
committee’s suggestions, would be included in the packet for the March 28 board meeting. 
Carryover increases 2007 funds by $5.8 million due to uncompleted 2006 projects; the 
Conservation Rate credit will provide $1.9 million; PGE and Avista revenues are about $1.9 
million less than expected. The net is $5.8 million available for reallocation, for which staff has 
specific recommendations. The committee also discussed the idea of preparing two-year budgets 
in the future, which would align budgets with two-year action plans. 
 
5. Possible work outside of Oregon IOU service territories. Staff briefed the committee on 
preliminary discussions with BPA about coordinating Energy Trust’s trade ally program with a 
potential BPA trade ally network. Energy Trust does not want to compete to handle this work 
for BPA in other states, but is concerned that BPA efforts and Energy Trust efforts be well 
integrated to avoid imposing burdens on trade allies. The committee suggested staff continue 
the discussions without making any irrevocable commitments. 







Policy Committee notes  March 13, 2007 


3 


 
 Staff briefed the committee on discussions with Cascade Natural Gas. Cascade is 
working with the Washington Utilities and Transportation Council (WUTC) to decide how to 
carry out conservation programs in Washington. Energy Trust will not compete for the 
programs if an RFP is issued. However, we have told Cascade that if it asks Energy Trust to 
administer the programs, we would be interested. Staff has provided Cascade with a rough idea 
of the cost of providing such programs, noting that a much more detailed analysis would be 
required before Cascade or Energy Trust should determine how to proceed. In addition, Energy 
Trust would require board approval before expanding its services, and Cascade’s decisions will 
be made in cooperation with the WUTC and stakeholders. Staff will memorialize this in a letter 
to Cascade. 
 
 The committee endorsed the idea of not competing for such expansions, but also had 
no reservations about the idea in concept if utilities want to deal with Energy Trust on a non-
competitive basis. The committee also asked staff to develop criteria to consider in connection 
with proposals like this. 
  







Policy Committee notes  March 13, 2007 


4 


New Bills: 
 
Oregon Renewable Energy Act (Mar. 1 draft):  


• A utility that sells more than 1% of Oregon’s retail electricity must get at least 5% of sales must 
be from qualifying renewable energy sources starting 2011; 15% by 2015; 20% by 2020; and 25% 
by 2025.  


• Smaller utilities: at least 5% of sales must be renewable by 2020. 
• Applies to investor-owned and consumer-owned utilities; electric service suppliers are bound by 


standard that applies to utility where sales are made. 
• Utilities may comply by building projects, buying energy from someone else’s project, buying 


renewable energy certificates (as approved by OPUC), or a combination of these. If RECs are 
used, they must: meet OPUC standards; be purchased or banked RECs from non-net-metered 
and non-QF facilities may not be used to meet more than 20% of the requirement. 


• Eligible resources:  
o Projects built 1995 or more recently 
o Eligible technologies: wind, hydro, geothermal, wave energy, solar power and hydrogen 


derived from these sources. 
o Biomass: solid organic fuels from wood, forest or field residues, animal waste, landfill gas and 


spent pulping liquor. 
o Qualifying hydro: 


 Not on a wild, and scenic or protected river 
 Efficiency upgrades at dams existing before 1995 
 Small hydro in irrigation pipes and canals 


o ODOE may identify other complying energy sources 
• Cost cap: 4% of annual retail electric revenue requirement  
• Utility is exempt if it would have to:  


o acquire energy in excess of load 
o substitute qualifying electricity for energy that is not derived from coal, natural gas or 


petroleum 
o substitute qualifying electricity for energy available under pre-2007 Mid-Columbia PUD 


contracts (but when Mid-C contract expires or is renewed at a cost increase of more than 
10%, utility must comply the next year) 


o substitute qualifying electricity for its firm energy allocation from BPA.  
• OPUC to establish standards by which an investor-owned utility can meet the requirement by 


making compliance payments; for consumer-owned utilities, the utility governing boards establish 
compliance rates.  


• OPUC may impose penalties for non-compliance. 
• Utilities may recover in rates all prudent compliance costs. 
• Extends public purpose charge to Jan. 1, 2026; dedicates the 19% of the charge that is for 


renewable energy to resources under 20 MW. 
 
SB 19 -- Consumer-Owned Utilities Renewable Portfolio Standard similar to Oregon 
Renewable Energy Act, except: 


• Applies only to consumer-owned utilities that serve more than 50,000 retail customers or 
provide more than 5% of the states total retail load. 


• By 2009, utility must get 25% of retail electricity, or 60 percent of the utility’s average Oregon 
load growth from renewables. 


• BPA electricity counts; all generation must be from WECC service territory 
• Cost cap (“Compliance by expenditure,” sec. 8): 4% of annual retail electric revenue 


requirement, or 8% of annual power supply and transmission revenue requirement, if used for 
energy, RECs, research and development, or failed renewable projects that are beyond the 
utility’s control 


• Exemption if utility would have to increase average retail electricity rates for all customer classes 
by more than 4% (sec. 9) 


• ODOE to establish a REC system for consumer-owned utilities (sec. 12) 
 








 
 


Board Decision 
Amending Energy Trust Policy  
On Green Tags  
March 28, 2007 


 
Purpose 
 


Approve modifications to the Energy Trust policy on green tags.  
 
Background 
 


• Green tags emerged in the late 1990s as a means of buying and selling the ‘environmental 
savings’ associated with electricity from renewable energy projects. The assumption was that 
renewable energy has environmental benefits that people would value independently of the 
energy itself.  


• One green tag represents the environmental value of one megawatt-hour (MWh) of renewable 
electricity. Green tags can be used to comply with state mandates or they may be sold 
(independent of the underlying electricity) to consumers who value renewable energy for its 
perceived environmental benefits.  


• As originally conceived, green tags could be a source of revenue in determining above-market 
costs, which had higher costs than could be covered by the market price for electricity.  


• Under a policy adopted by the board in 2002 and reaffirmed in 2004, Energy Trust takes title to 
green tags in proportion to its payment of the project’s above-market costs, and does not count 
green tag values in calculating above-market cost. 


• The rationale for this policy:  
o Energy Trust should take possession of some level of green tags as a hedge for ratepayers 


for future environmental regulation, securing tags in advance of need. 
o Deeming green tags to be equivalent to a project’s above-market cost was convenient in a 


relatively small, volatile, short-term market for green tags. Our funding had a level of 
certainty the green tag market could not offer.  


o Because we were offering value, the ratepayer should receive value in return. 
o The policy was a compromise among stakeholders, some of whom thought Energy Trust 


had no business owning green tags, and others who thought green tags should be the 
measure of Energy Trust’s success. 


• As the green tag market has grown strengthened, there is a growing mismatch between the 
Energy Trust policy – which deems green tags to be worth a project’s above-market costs – and 
green tag market values, which are influenced by demand, supply, regulation, legislative 
definitions and standards established by certifying organizations.  


• Energy Trust above-market incentives are sometimes below anticipated market values, and 
Energy Trust lost some attractive projects in 2006. As states continue to adopt renewable 
portfolio standards, we expect this to occur more and more, pushing Energy Trust toward 
higher-risk, lower-value projects. 


 







Resolution 433, Green Tag Policy Amendments  March 28, 2007 


2 


Proposal 
• The proposal outlined below is meant to support three principles. Energy Trust should: (1) help 


build renewable energy markets; (2) maximize environmental value on behalf of ratepayers; and 
(3) ensure that it pays no more than the project’s above-market cost.  


• The proposal: 
o Energy Trust will retain an independent, third-party consultant to ascertain market values 


and forward price curves for relevant types of green tags, and update them periodically. 
Energy Trust will publicly announce these “referent” prices, unless this creates a competitive 
problem. 


o If Energy Trust’s above-market incentive (including an average, acceptable rate of return), 
exceeds the referent green tag market value, Energy Trust will take title to all green tags. 


o If Energy Trust’s above-market incentive is less than the referent value, Energy Trust will 
negotiate for enough tags to fairly recognize that Energy Trust revenues are assured and so 
reduce the project’s market risk. In no case will Energy Trust accept fewer tags than the 
Energy Trust incentive could buy on the green tag market at the referent price. 


o If the above steps would accord the project owner/developer a rate of return higher than 
the standard range for projects of the type being considered, Energy Trust will negotiate 
either a reduction in Energy Trust incentive or retain additional green tags. 


 
Discussion 


• Staff has reviewed this proposal with the RAC and the board Policy Committee and is discussing 
it further with OPUC staff. The general proposal was supported, and there was strong 
agreement that we need a more flexible policy.  


• The last element in the proposal was added by staff in response to a RAC concern that a project 
could earn higher than reasonable returns, and we needed to tie the green tag policy back to 
the above market cost determination required by law. 


• The above-market cost calculation for any project assumes a rate of return for the project 
owner or developer. In practice, staff has based the acceptable rate of return on industry 
averages or what is minimally needed to finance the project, whichever is lower. 


• The concern is illustrated by the following hypothetical project: 
o All project costs, including an average rate of return, less revenues and credits, over 20 


years: $1,000 
o Same as above but with a reasonably higher rate of return: $1,200 
o Forecast market price for a comparable amount of energy over 20 years: $800 
o Forecast market value of the project’s green tags: $500 
o Result: 


 Energy Trust might  pay $200 incentive (above-market cost determined by difference between 
project cost at average returns and market price of energy) 


 Energy Trust gets 40% of  the green tags ($200 worth) 
 Project owner/developer gets the remaining tags, forecast to be worth $300, earning more than 


a reasonably high rate of return.  
o Energy Trust does not fund the project or negotiates for a lower incentive for the same number of 


green tags or a higher share of the tags and the same incentive. 
 


Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the board revise the Energy Trust green policy by adopting resolution #433, on 
an interim basis, to be revisited within a year or on passage of a renewable energy standard in Oregon.  


 
 







Resolution 433, Green Tag Policy Amendments  March 28, 2007 


3 


RESOLUTION #433 
AMENDING GREEN TAG POLICY 


 
WHEREAS:  
 
1. Under current Energy Trust policies, green tag values are deemed 


to be equal to a project’s above-market costs.  
2. Energy Trust takes title to green tags in proportion to its payment 


of a project’s above-market costs.  
3. As the green tag market has strengthened, however, there is a 


growing disconnect between the Energy Trust policy and green 
tag market values. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED:   
 
The Energy Trust board amends its green tag policy as follows: 
 


• Energy Trust will retain an independent, third-party consultant to 
ascertain market values and forward price curves for relevant types of 
green tags, and update them periodically. Energy Trust will publicly 
announce these referent prices 


• If Energy Trust’s above-market incentive exceeds the referent green 
tag market value, Energy Trust will take title to all green tags. 


• If Energy Trust’s above-market incentive is less than the referent 
value, Energy Trust will negotiate for enough tags to fairly recognize 
that Energy Trust provides an assured revenue stream that reduces 
the project’s market risk.  


• In no case will Energy Trust accept fewer tags than the Energy Trust 
incentive could buy on the referent green tag market. 


• Energy Trust will negotiate either a reduction in Energy Trust 
incentive or retain additional green tags if the above steps would 
accord the project owner/developer a higher-than-reasonable rate of 
return. 


 
 


 
Moved by: _____________   Seconded by: _______________ 


 
Vote:    In favor: _____   Abstained: ______ 
 
Opposed:  


  
 








 


 
 
 


Board Decision 
Authorizing Funds for the Warm Springs Biomass 
Project 
March 28, 2007 


Summary 
Authorize the Executive Director to sign contracts associated with the Warm Springs Biomass 15.8-
megawatt biomass project (14.1 average megawatts), with Energy Trust providing up to $5,000,000 
toward the project's above-market cost. Payment would be made over the first ten years of 
commercial operation. Due to this long payout term, security and pay-back provisions would not be 
required. This project is being considered under the PGE Master Agreement, and green tags would 
be handled pursuant to that agreement.  


Background 
• In October, 2005, Energy Trust and PGE entered into a Master Agreement reserving funds 


to offset the above-market costs of new renewable energy projects. Energy Trust identified 
the Warm Springs Biomass project through its Biopower program. Subsequently, PGE 
proposed to Energy Trust that the project be funded through the Master Agreement. 


• The developer and owner will be Warm Springs Biomass, LLC, which will consist of business 
enterprises owned by the Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, plus a third-party investor. 
The project will require a total capital investment of about $46,000,000.  


• The project is a cogeneration project with expected nameplate capacity of 20 megawatts. It 
will provide steam to Warm Springs Forest Products Industries for lumber-drying purposes 
and provide at least 15.8 megawatts of electrical generating capacity. The electrical 
generating portion will operate at an average capacity factor of 89.1% over the twenty-year 
Energy Trust funding agreement.  


• The project will use clean wood fuel, including sawmill residuals, forest-sourced wood and 
clean urban wood. The project will not use railroad ties, telephone poles, or other wood 
contaminated by paint, creosote or other chemicals. The fuel mix is compatible with 
relevant Energy Trust policies. It is also compatible with legislative definitions for acceptable 
proposed for a renewable energy standard (also known as a portfolio standard) in Oregon.   


• Tribal timberlands belonging to the Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs have been 
certified by the Forest Stewardship Council as sustainably managed.  


• An independent, third-party analysis using the above-market methodologies approved by the 
Board shows returns on investment consistent with those approved by the Oregon Public 
Utilities Commission. This analysis indicates that the project’s cost and technical 
assumptions are usual and reasonable, and that as currently evaluated, above-market costs 
will not exceed $5 million. Energy Trust staff and Warm Springs Biomass have identified 
specific circumstances that could reduce these costs.  


• The contract for this project will be standard, with the following exceptions: (1) green tags 
will be held in trust by PGE for its ratepayers, consistent with the Master Agreement ; (2) 
the contract will identify specific circumstances in which project costs could change, leading 







Resolution 432 Warm Springs Biomass LLC Project                                                               March 28, 2007 


 


2 


to lower above-market costs and a lower contribution from Energy Trust; and 3) because 
funds will be paid out over approximately ten years, default on the part of Warm Springs 
Biomass will be handled through forfeiture of remaining escrow funds rather than a secured 
payback obligation.  


• The project will meet certain construction and operation milestones, yet to be determined. 
These will include execution of a power purchase agreement, financing agreements, permits 
and equipment purchases. 


• The contract would commit Warm Springs Biomass to commercial operation by December 
31, 2008. 


Discussion 
• The range for the biomass projects we have funded to date is from $1,463,000 to $227,000 


per average megawatt (aMW). Staff believes this project represents excellent value for a 
biomass project, at about $355,000 per aMW. 


• This biomass project will be the third-largest project funded by Energy Trust. Due to its high 
capacity factor, its expected energy output will be comparable to that of the 41-MW 
Combine Hills wind project.   


• Energy Trust’s contribution is equivalent to a green tag purchase price of about $2.69 per 
megawatt-hour, calculated as an average (levelized) price over the life of the project. 


• As the first project in Oregon to rely significantly on forest material gathered as part of 
forest stewardship activities, this effort will test the viability of the forest biomass concept. 


• The Warm Springs team is committed to managing the project in an open, transparent 
manner, as part of a sustainable management plan.  


Recommendation 
Authorize the Executive Director to enter into contracts associated with funding up to $5 million 
toward the above-market costs of the Warm Springs Biomass LLC project consistent with the 
terms described below, by adopting  the following resolution. 







Resolution 432 Warm Springs Biomass LLC Project                                                               March 28, 2007 


 


3 


RESOLUTION #432 


APPROVING BASIC TERMS OF A CONTRACT TO FUND ABOVE-
MARKET COSTS OF THE WARM SPRINGS BIOMASS LLC PROJECT 


 


WHEREAS: 
1. In October, 2005, Energy Trust and PGE entered into a Master 


Agreement reserving funds to offset the above-market costs of new 
renewable energy projects that benefit PGE customers. 


2. Energy Trust, following discussions with Warm Springs Biomass LLC, 
has identified a biomass project, and PGE has proposed that the 
project be funded through the Master Agreement.  


3. The project would be located within the boundaries of the 
Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation. It 
would have a nameplate capacity of 20 megawatts, delivering at least 
15.8 net megawatts to the grid (equivalent to at least 14.1 average 
megawatts).  


4. Energy Trust has conducted an independent review of the project and 
applied the above-market methodologies approved by the board and 
returns on investment approved by the OPUC. As currently 
evaluated, the project’s above-market costs would not exceed $5 
million. 


5. Warm Springs Biomass LLC expects the project to be in commercial 
operation by the end of 2008.  


It is RESOLVED: 


The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.: 
      1. Authorizes the Executive Director to sign a contract to pay Warm 


Springs Biomass LLC up to $5,000,000 of the above-market costs of 
the Warm Springs Biomass project, to be deposited into escrow 
promptly after the contract is executed. 


2. The Project shall generate at least 15.8 megawatts (net) of baseload 
electric energy. 


3. The project shall use clean wood fuel, such as sawmill residuals, 
forest-sourced wood and clean urban wood, not railroad ties, 
telephone poles, or other wood that is contaminated by paint, 
creosote or other chemicals. 


4.  The life of the agreement shall be not less than 20 years. 
      5. Payments from escrow shall be made to Warm Springs Biomass LLC 


over a ten-year term if performance standards to be specified in the 
contract are met.  


       
 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 


 
Staff Report 
March 28, 2007 


This report from Margie Harris is on behalf of all staff and spans the period January 29, 2007, 
through March 9, 2007. Items not otherwise addressed in this board packet are described here. 


General 
 


 Tom Foley and Margie Harris visited with two commissioners from the Washington 
Utilities and Transportation Commission and provided an overview of the Energy Trust 
program delivery model and highlighted accomplishments. The productive meeting was a 
preliminary and informal exchange of potential opportunities to consider different 
delivery options in Washington State. 


 Energy efficiency sector managers presented program details to Christine Kautzmann of 
Cascade Natural Gas, the Cascade contact overseeing all efficiency activities for the 
company. The presentation provided Christine with an overview of how Energy Trust 
programs operate in Oregon for her to consider when evaluating different models for 
future program offerings to Washington Cascade customers. 


 Actions necessary to secure Bonneville Power Administration Conservation Rate Credit 
funding are being finalized. Utility agreements are nearing completion. The transfer of 
measure savings information to BPA’s tracking system has been finalized and will be 
ready for the mid-year project submission deadline of April 30. 


 Tom Foley and Margie Harris had an introductory meeting with the new President of 
Pacific Power, Pat Reiten and with Jay Clemens, new President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Associated Oregon Industries. Both Pat and Jay were most generous with 
their time and the meetings were fruitful.  


 Margie met with Governor Kulongoski’s staff Allen Alley and Peter Cogswell and 
provided an update on Energy Trust achievements. 


 Margie made a general Energy Trust presentation at the request of Representative Jackie 
Dingfelder to the House Energy and Natural Resources Committee, which was well 
received.   


 The majority of Energy Trust staff participated in an all-day strategic planning session, 
during which program managers made brief and informative presentations on the 
purpose, opportunities and challenges of their programs. The highly informative 
exchange engaged staff at a very productive level. Follow-up issues and ideas will be 
distilled and where appropriate, incorporated into pre-planning for the board strategic 
retreat in June. 


 Oregon Natural Step Network and Energy Trust staff held two meetings to exchange 
information about common interests in sustainability and to exchange ideas about 
possible synergies between the two organizations. One key outcome is to address the 
full circle impacts of the services we each offer, as in the example of promoting CFL use 
and proper disposal. A sustainability workshop and website links to the multiple 
resources for those interested in sustainable practices may be future outcomes. 


 At the request of former “Yalie” Al Jubitz, Margie addressed the Yale Alumni Club at a 
recent luncheon and delivered a speech linking energy efficiency, renewable energy and 
global warming. Discussion was lively. 







Staff Report March 28, 2007 


Page 2 of 8 


Program Planning and Evaluation 


• The Evaluation Committee convened on February 23, 2007 to review draft reports on 
the 2005 Building Efficiency Impact Evaluation and 2003-2005 Production Efficiency 
Impact Evaluation.\ 


• Completed the 2007 true up; results will be incorporated into the annual report.   
• Completed cost-effectiveness analyses for several revised measures for the Home 


Energy Solutions -- Existing Homes program. 
• Completed cost-effectiveness analysis for commercial washers (laundromat and 


multifamily) at a higher efficiency level, recently become feasible; will offer Incentives 
through programs for new and existing homes and commercial buildings. 


Efficiency Programs 


General 
• Based upon a referral from John Savage, efficiency staff met with Salem officials to 


prepare a comprehensive energy efficiency action plan for the city’s municipal buildings.  
Outcomes include construction opportunities for four new firehouses, a library lighting 
retrofit, and a plan to identify the energy efficiency potential in 100 buildings using an 
Energy Star benchmark tool and leveraging an intern from Willamette University. 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® New Homes 
• Represented the program at several well attended sessions of the HBA’s Green Week, 


including “Energy Tax Credits and Other Incentives” and “Selling Green Homes.” 
• Launched ENERGY STAR New Manufactured Homes in January to 58 eligible retailers 


in Energy Trust territory, with positive feedback from retailers. 
• Mailed Manufactured Homes 2007 program packets to every retailer with an 


introduction letter, home counter card, customer incentive form and Energy Trust zip 
code list. 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® Products 
• Launched Savings with a Spin premium efficiency clothes washer promotion in January to 


160 eligible retailers with over 89 qualified models that have an MEF of 2.0 or higher. 
• Logged $1,569 in earnings for Lights for Learning CFL sales during January’s fundraising 


efforts. 
• Processed over 670 clothes washer incentives in January. 


Home Energy Solutions—Existing Homes 
• Finalized Existing Homes program incentives, forms and web content for a March 1, 


2007, launch. 
• Staffed booths at both the Portland Home and Remodeling Show and Office of 


Sustainable Development’s Fix-It Fair in January. 
• Saw online Home Energy Review (HER) requests increase in January to 381(36% 


increase over December). 
• Sponsored the highly successful northwest Affordable Comfort Home Performance 


conference, which attracted over 500 participants.  







Staff Report March 28, 2007 


Page 3 of 8 


• Trained Home Energy Reviewers to perform a basic assessment of a home’s solar 
potential and to provide information about solar to the homeowner during a home 
energy review. 


• Presented workshop in Bend Feb. 27 on energy efficiency and solar incentives for 
homeowners and builders as part of the Building Green Council of Central Oregon’s 
education series. 


• Presented a brownbag session to NW Natural staff Feb. 23 on residential solar 
applications and incentives in Oregon. 


Business Energy Solutions—New Buildings  
• Launched the ENERGY STAR new construction track and began accepting applications.  
• Working on marketing strategies to recruit more small and medium- sized new 


construction projects around the state. These strategies include:  
 


- Hiring additional PMC staff to market and promote projects. 
- “Community engagement” – travel around state to raise awareness and help 


projects enroll in the program.  
-     Continue to nurture existing relationships with architect and engineering 


firms.  
-  Develop new marketing collateral including a series of case studies and fact 


sheets. 


Business Energy Solutions—Existing Buildings 
• Coordinating with Bonneville Power Administration on developing and launching a 


targeted suite of incentives, marketing materials and outreach activities for the 
hospitality industry to be launched in Q2. 


• In cooperation with BetterBricks, engaging a large healthcare organization to map out 
for the next few years capital upgrade and retrofit projects, budget cycles and incentive 
funding in order to provide better service to them and to better define the timing of 
large incentive investments and the acquisition of associated energy savings. 


Business Energy Solutions—Production Efficiency 
• Presented Production Efficiency’s first Energy Leader Award to Stimson Lumber 


Company for participating in Energy Trust efficiency programs and for making energy 
efficiency an integral part of the sustainable practices that carry on Stimson’s long 
tradition of quality. 


• Submitted successful application nominating Buzz Thielemann, program PDC with RHT 
Energy, for a Daily Journal of Commerce’s Rainmaker award; he is a finalist for the 
award, which will be presented in April. 


• Began implementing 2003-2005 impact evaluation recommendations. 


Renewable Energy 


Open Solicitation 
• Obtained board approval and began contract discussions for an 869.4 kW solar project 


at Portland Habilitation Center’s new manufacturing facility.   







Staff Report March 28, 2007 


Page 4 of 8 


• Attended the annual meeting of the Dairy Farmers of Oregon in Sunriver to promote 
the biopower program and gather information about the role anaerobic digesters might 
play in a dairy’s operations. 


• Visited several potential sites for municipal solar installations in Albany. 
• Addressed the Southwest Portland Rotary Club, Oregon City-West Linn Rotary, and 


the Hillsboro Rotary. 
• Represented the Renewable Resources team in planning a community energy project 


with NW Natural. 


Utility Scale 
• Told by Pacific Power they were suspending negotiations with what had been a top 


candidate for a wind project to be supported with funding from the Energy Trust; 
replacement project to be identified by early in the second quarter of 2007. 


• Continue to iterate with PGE on contract terms for the Biglow Canyon 125.4 MW wind 
project; expect final data for the above-market calculations from PGE in mid March, in 
time for a final package for board approval in May.   


Wind 
• Signed Letter of Intent for the 10 MW Sherman County Wind Farmer Community 


Wind Project. 
• Contracted with NW Sustainable Economic Development (NW SEED) to prepare 


USDA application for the 1.5 MW China Hollow Community Wind Project. 
• Contracted with NW SEED to determine best practices for state small wind programs. 
• Approved funding for a 5 kW small wind project at the Thornton residence near 


Independence, Oregon, in PGE service territory. 
• Continued participation in an Oregon PUC interconnection workshop.  


Biopower 
• Cosponsored annual convention of Oregon Dairy Farmers Association. 
• Cofunded a feasibility study for a system upgrade at the dormant wood-fired Heppner 


Biomass project; a study of biogas options at Clackamas County’s Kellogg and Tri-City 
wastewater treatment plants; and a scoping study for the City of Coos Bay’s wastewater 
treatment plant. 


• Restarted negotiations on the 17.9-megawatt wood cogeneration project at Warm 
Springs Forest Products. 


• Participated in Oregon Solutions project to identify highest value solution to state’s 
animal byproducts disposal challenge.   


• Initiated meetings with Stimson Lumber to discuss potential wood cogeneration project. 


Solar 
• Raised solar electric incentives for businesses to spark more commercial installations.  


Incentives for PGE customers remain higher than for Pacific Power, and are now capped 
at $70,000 for a 50 kW system.   


• With PGE and BEF, planned a media event for the new Solar 4R Schools 1 kW PV 
system on Molalla High School. 


• Presented solar technologies and incentives at the ACI NW conference Feb 21, to NW 
Natural staff on Feb 23, and at a workshop for the Green Building Council of Oregon 
Feb 27-28. 







Staff Report March 28, 2007 


Page 5 of 8 


• Hired intern Eric Youngson from OIT Renewable Energy Engineering program to work 
on renewable energy projects, including streamlining our requirements for analyzing 
solar resource at project sites  


• Signed contract with Solar Oregon (co-funded by OSD Solar Now! campaign) to deliver 
monthly basic solar workshops to homeowners in Portland, and to have a solar booth at 
events that provide Solar Oregon, Energy Trust and Solar Now! materials. 


• Working with marketing/communications staff, developing a protocol for doing market 
research and revising our marketing efforts for the solar program in the PGE service 
territory. 


Communication, Marketing and Outreach 
 
Call Center/Customer Service  


• Kept call center up to date on new program incentives and requirements. 
• Conducted tribal energy/outreach planning meeting. 
• Provided updated solar training for CSG call center. 
• Spoke on Energy Trust programs for three events. 


  
Call Volume through February 2007 


5 0 0


1 0 0 0


1 5 0 0


2 0 0 0


2 5 0 0


3 0 0 0


3 5 0 0


4 0 0 0


C a l ls 2 4 4 7 3 5 8 9 2 5 2 1 2 1 3 8 2 0 4 3 2 1 3 3 1 9 3 6 1 2 7 2 1 4 7 0 1 3 8 3 1 3 4 0 1 4 6 4 1 4 8 4 1 9 7 9 1 4 3 4 1 4 8 9 2 0 7 7 1 9 3 1


S e p  
0 5


O c t  
0 5


N o v  
0 5


D e c  
0 5


J a n  
0 6


F e b  
0 6


M a r  
0 6


A p r  
0 6


M a y  
0 6


J u n  
0 6


J u l  
0 6


A u g  
0 6


S e p  
0 6


O c t  
0 6


N o v  
0 6


D e c  
0 6


J a n  
0 7


F e b  
0 7


 
Website  


• Updated Home Energy Solutions single family and multifamily pages with new incentive 
amounts and new copy.  


• Posted new copy for New Buildings’ ENERGY STAR Track. 
• Took interactive solar program announcements database live. 
• Updated copy and forms on Irrigation Initiative website. 
• Fixed broken links in past issues of Synergy. 
• Added short introductory sentences for each program index page calling out the 


benefits of participating in our programs.  







Staff Report March 28, 2007 


Page 6 of 8 


 
Website Visits through February 2007 
 


1 9 0 0 0


2 1 5 0 0


2 4 0 0 0


2 6 5 0 0


2 9 0 0 0


3 1 5 0 0


3 4 0 0 0


3 6 5 0 0


3 9 0 0 0


4 1 5 0 0


4 4 0 0 0


4 6 5 0 0


4 9 0 0 0


5 1 5 0 0


5 4 0 0 0


5 6 5 0 0


5 9 0 0 0


V i s i t s 3 5 8 8 7 3 3 3 4 5 3 7 2 8 3 3 4 0 7 2 4 9 4 7 4 3 9 8 0 4 4 0 7 0 3 3 9 9 7 9 3 9 4 6 0 4 5 0 8 4 3 9 1 2 6 5 4 9 1 2 4 4 8 1 3 4 9 7 9 4 5 0 9 9 5 4 7 7 6 1


N o v  0 5 D e c  0 5 J a n  0 6 F e b  0 6 M a r  0 6 A p r  0 6 M a y  0 6 J u n  0 6 J u l  0 6 A u g  0 6 S e p  0 6 O c t  0 6 N o v  0 6 D e c  0 6 J a n  0 7 F e b  0 7


 
 Trade Ally Outreach 


• Notified trade allies of new program incentives. 
• Held trade ally awards meetings in Portland and Grants Pass. 
• Developed annual trade ally survey with Evaluations Department.  


Events, Speaking Engagements and Sponsorships  
• Participated in 15 energy-related events during the period.  
• Sponsored and presented at the three day ACI Northwest 2007 Conference.   
• Sponsored two Rethink classes with the Office of Sustainable Development. 
• Presented at Eastern Oregon Entrepreneur Day. 
• Staffed a booth at the Manufactured Home Show in Salem. 
• Hosted tour of Stimson Lumber’s energy efficiency projects for board and some staff.  


 
Creative Products  


• Created 27 new and resized advertisements: 9 commercial, 4 residential, 4 renewable 
and 10 general. 


• Produced and released three newsletters: Synergy (general, monthly), Insider (for trade 
allies, bimonthly) and Pit Stop (internal, monthly). 


• Produced updated solar brochure. 
• Updated Multifamily Home Energy Solutions marketing materials. 
• Produced ENERGY STAR® New Homes technical pocket guide, cooperative 


advertisement agreements, virtual tour and a suite of new materials to support the 
program. 


• ENERGY STAR Products designed new materials in cooperation with Bonneville Power 
Administration to promote Change a Light, Change the World. 


 







Staff Report March 28, 2007 


Page 7 of 8 


News Releases and Media Events  
• Distributed six press releases: ENERGY STAR New Homes milestones, RMLS adds 


green menu, New Building Efficiency introduces ENERGY STAR, New Building Efficiency 
2006 milestones, Harley Tucker Memorial Arena and Willamette Falls Hospital. 


• Created pipeline of press releases for 2007. 
• Continued to garner news coverage about Energy Trust programs in local newspapers 


around the state.  
• Coordinated with NEEA on a press release about ENERGY STAR New Homes winners.  
 


Utility Co-promotions  
• Pacific Power—article on ENERGY STAR appliances and home energy efficiency 


improvements in March newsletter, Voices; updated web copy.  
• NWN—co-branded TV spot began airing late February and will run through April 22; 


updated web copy. 
• PGE—updated web copy. 


Operations, Contracts, Human Resources, Finance and 
Information Technology 


Finance 
• Selected Moss Adams to perform Enterprise Architecture study of IT and financial 


systems starting in late March and completing mid-summer.   
• Thanks to good preparation work by the entire team, the financial audit field was able to 


begin a few days early and finish early.   
• Completed information gathering for round 5 of the budget to reallocate unused funds 


from 2006 plus add CRC funding. 
• Enhanced budgeting tool by adding a macro make information consolidation more 


efficient 
• Issued 260 1099’s. 
• Completed 2006 Q4 FastTrack audit. 
• Updated all payroll information for new year (all deductions, group term life, etc.). 
• Reconciled annual 401k uploads with Invesmart. 
• Revamped and updated PMC invoice cover sheets. 
• Completed compensation statements for all staff. 
• Interviewed stakeholders, developed and recommendations process improvements for 


authorizing measure additions and changes. 
• Initiated and helped design new form and process for renewables team to contract for 


service incentives with less paperwork (Renewable Energy Technical Assistance 
Agreement, RETTA). 


• Updated the Financial Procedures. 
• Began update of Financial Principles. 
• Logged 2006 Q1 project files to archive. 
• Uploaded all archived project files through 12/05 into searchable document retention 


database. 







Staff Report March 28, 2007 


Page 8 of 8 


Human Resources 
• Accepted Kevin Whilden’s resignation as planner/analyst and wished Kevin well as he 


moves on to Climos, a company that will develop greenhouse gas offsets by enhancing 
the growth of natural biologic systems, focusing primarily on plankton. 


• Filled the Planner/Analyst position by hiring Matt Braham, previously an intern in the 
planning department, graduate of California State University and Portland State 
University, where he recently received his masters degree. 


• Hired Ryan Eubanks, Portland State University student, as an intern in the IT group. 
• Completed the 2006 performance review process. 
• Provided a day-long negotiations training focused on Win-Win negotiation strategies. 
• Reviewed, revised and reissued Employee Handbook. 


Legal and Contracts 
• Incorporated in other department updates. 


Information Technology 
• Released a major new site attribute feature in FastTrack to make data entry more 


efficient while providing more useful information to planning and evaluation. 
• Engaged Martin Staudacher to assist with network support as a ½-time contractor. 
• Received very positive feedback was received from the PMCs at both the most recent 


ITAC meeting and at a Home Energy Solutions contract status review meeting on 
progress in resolving data and reporting issues. 


 








CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting February 21, 2007 
 
Attending from the Council:           
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Andria Jacob, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
Ken Keating, BPA 
Mat Northway 
Paul Olson, Oregon Remodeler’s Association 
Susan Steward, BOMA 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
   
Attending from Energy Trust board:      
Debbie Kitchin 
 
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Kacia Brockman 
Diane Ferington 
Fred Gordon 
Margie Harris 
Steve Lacey 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Elaine Prause 
Jan Schaeffer 
Greg Stiles 
John Volkman 
Kendall Youngblood 
Spencer Moersfelder 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Paul Berkowitz, CSG 
Kyle Diesner, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
George Lorance, Milgard Mfg., Inc. 
Ken Self, Lockheed Martin 
Bob Stull, PECI 
Buzz Thielemann, RHT 
Randy Emerson, LBL Windows  
John Hill, LBL Windows 
 
 
1. Introductions and announcements 
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. 2007 housekeeping  
Steve reviewed a draft CAC charter and the council roster for 2007. He noted we discovered that the 
CAC, which has functioned since 2001, has not had a charter. The draft charter explains council 
functions, composition, meetings and procedures. He also noted CAC operating principles adopted by 
the CAC in 2004.  
 
A new practice, included under the council composition heading, would be to allow replacing members 
who do not attend meetings for a year or more.  







CAC Notes – February 21, 2007       


 2


He hopes to take a charter to the board for approval at their March 28 meeting.  
 
Ken Keating suggests being cautious about stating that CAC will review issues before they go to the 
board. There might not always be adequate time for this to happen. He suggests softening the language 
to something like “the CAC’s role is to review….” Steve said it’s a guideline, not a hard-and-fast rule. 
Fred noted not every issue will be aired before the CAC.  
 
Steve noted currently there are 18 individuals on the CAC roster. There are some members who have 
not attended in 1-2 years. Debbie thinks 18 is a comfortable number. She thinks the issue of attendance 
and number of members should be separated. She thinks we might want to have some organizations 
represented even if a particular individual cannot continue to participate. Paul Olson thought one year of 
nonattendance is generous. Steve said Alan Meyer, who could not attend today, suggested shortening 
the absence time to 6 months.  
 
Paul asked if the members serve at the pleasure of the board or the staff. John Volkman said Energy 
Trust staff would recommend members, for approval from the board’s policy committee.  
 
Steve polled council members.  
 
Susan Steward thinks 10-15 is a reasonable number. In her organization, if someone misses four 
meetings, they will be talked to. 
 
Ken Keating thinks the 1 year absence is generous. He recognizes you have some valuable people who 
only come when an issue interests them. He suggests checking in with folks if they miss 6 months to 
make sure their email address hasn’t changed. Size is fine. 
 
Mat Northway thinks the 1 year timeframe is fine, and size is fine. 
 
Suzanne Dillard agrees a year is generous and long enough. She echoes the recommendation to check in 
with missing folks.  
 
Lauren supports the proposals. 
 
Andria Jacob suggested getting a sense of why someone misses meetings and to try to find someone else 
from that organization. They should have one warning before being removed.  
 
Paul is fine with what’s been said.  
 
Steve said he heard consensus that 1 year of absences is acceptable, with a 6-month check in with folks 
who haven’t been seen for a number of months. Fifteen-18 members is an acceptable number. He will 
reword the sentence about reviewing issues before they are brought before the board.  
 
Steve reviewed the rest of the 2007 CAC meeting schedule. He noted next month is the second 
Wednesday, not third Wednesday, to avoid conflict with an ACEEE market transformation conference.  
 
3. 2006 program results 
Steve reported in Q4 ’06 over half of the year’s savings were logged. By sector, residential produced 
6.04 aMW, commercial 2.43 aMW, and industrial 3.8 aMW. For the year, we achieved 109% of the best 
case goal. On the gas side, we achieved 40% of the conservative goal but came in under the goal by 12%. 







CAC Notes – February 21, 2007       


 3


Debbie suggested comparing gas results to 2005. Steve said we got a million more therms in 2006 
compared to 2005. 
 
Paul asked if additional gas savings to get us to the 2012 goal are going to come from the commercial 
sector. Steve said we expect new, higher efficiency technologies for both commercial and residential 
applications. Fred said there is more potential on the residential side. He said in single family homes, the 
majority of our savings are gas.  
 
Buzz notes that RHT does walk-through audits for Avista. He runs into a lot of gas installations that 
were designed when gas was cheap. He wonders if Energy Trust can do walkthrough audits and find the 
low-hanging fruit. Steve said he thinks there will be opportunities to take this approach as we ramp up 
our outreach to small businesses. 
 
Building Tune-Up and Operations. Spencer Moersfelder noted in 2007 this program is folded into the 
Building Efficiency program. He noted most of the electric savings landed in Q4 ’06. Most of these 
savings come from students completing BOP training. Retrocommissioning and building tune-up projects 
are not expected to complete until mid 2007. He noted that incentive spending for the quarter 
significantly exceeded budget, a result of budgeting evenly across the quarters. We will correct that in 
2007 by assigning proportionally more budget to the fourth quarter.  
 
New Building Efficiency. Spencer said he took over this program from Greg Stiles in mid 2006. In Q4 on 
the electric side, the majority of savings for the year landed. Levelized costs are relatively low, because a 
number of multiyear projects completed in ’06 (associated developmental spending happened 
predominately in prior years). The program exceeded the best case electric goal for ’06 by more than 
$5 million and was on par with other programs in relation to gas savings goal. The program closed more 
than 100 projects in ’06, including a number of high-profile projects that had been enrolled in the 
program for a few years.  
 
Building Efficiency. Greg Stiles said the program exceeded its best case electric goal for ’06 but fell short 
on gas. The program was under spent for the year, compared to budget, which means the program was 
operating very efficiently and providing added value to the Energy Trust performance measures. He 
noted Q4 was devoted to a lot of housekeeping activities. We are receiving special notice by EPA for 
ENERGY STAR partnership in ’06.  
 
Production Efficiency. Elaine Prause said Q4 saw 3.26 aMW savings. Year-end total was 6.63 aMW. She 
said at end of the year we began focusing on filling the pipeline for 2008. Funding is stable.  
 
Home Energy Savings. Diane Ferington reported the program achieved 170% of the conservative case 
electric goal and 92% of the conservative gas goal. She listed communities statewide served in Q4. She 
noted the effort to get permanent reviewers in the eastern and southern parts of the state. She showed 
slides demonstrating performance by sector and measure over the year.  
 
Debbie asked if the pie charts by measure are calculated by spending or savings. Paul Berkowitz said 
they are based on savings.  
 
Ken Keating asked if he thought the CFL savings numbers are exaggerated, to the extent they are based 
on user reports. Self-reported usage is 25% high, compared to metered usage. He thinks the weighted 
average saved watts of 50.3 is high. Direct-install CFLs have much more reliable savings associated with 
them. Fred said that the issue is difficult to assess because CSG is taking some care to do a reliable job. 
He thought the reported reduction in wattages would be reasonable, the interactive effects are analyzed 







CAC Notes – February 21, 2007       


 4


consistent with the Regional Technical Forum, but there would be less certainty about the hours of 
operation. He will look into this.  
 
New Homes and Products. Kendall noted the program fell under its conservative case electric goal but 
exceeded the conservative case gas goal. She noted 2006 had 15% fewer housing starts than 2005 but at 
the same time claimed a 10% market share for Energy Star homes in  Energy Trust territory. 
 
The 230 efficient new manufactured homes in 2006 represent a 1200% increase over 2005. In 2006, 82% 
of all manufactured home retailers in Energy Trust territory participated in the program. Incentives for 
clothes washers increased 153% over 2005, and the Savings with a Twist promotion increased 54% over 
2005 and sold over 99,445 more CFLs in a three-month period.  
 
Solar Water Heating. Kacia Brockman said the solar water heating effort exceeded electric and gas goals 
on the residential side. We have expanded marketing and outreach for solar through the OSD’s Solar 
Now program, Solar Oregon’s solar workshops, home energy reviewers (existing homes program) and 
building outreach specialists (new homes program). Paul Olson asked if we are doing anything to 
rehabilitate old systems. Kacia said no.  
 
Market Transformation. Steve said NEEA programs achieved 212% of the conservative goal. Spending 
came close to budget.  
 
Ken Keating noted yesterday the RTF got a presentation on existing and new building sockets. Newer 
homes are putting in more sockets. Although it looks like we’ve done a lot, there’s a lot of potential left. 
Installed CFLs represent only 6% of all light bulbs. He noted California is considering banning 
incandescents. If done, the impact would be right up there with getting all cars to achieve 50 mpg.  
 
4. Home Energy Solutions Existing Homes 2007 Incentive Summary 
Paul Berkowitz noted he presented proposed 2007 incentives to about 100 contractors in early January, 
and to 30 contractors in Grants Pass in February. Trade allies also had until Feb. 1 to provide written 
comment.  
 
He summarized contractor feedback, including: 


• Tiered incentives are complex and open to gaming 
• Contractor spiffs for trade allies should be added to the customer incentive 
• Continue $50 payment for a duct leakage test 
• Provide a $300 incentive for faced duct insulation 
• Create an air sealing test incentive for contractors 
• Add duct leakage and duct sealing incentive to multiplex and multifamily programs 
• Create an attic ventilation incentive 
• Develop an incentive for gas hearth 
• Increase window incentives to cover incremental cost of U-30 window 
• Meet minimum window U-Value .30 on an overall weighted U-Value average 
• Trade ally to assist customers with tax credit paperwork; some TAs offer this service and 


don’t want us to remove their market differentiation 
• Minimum jobs per year requirement to be a trade ally would be retained 
• Don’t provide any contractor spiffs instead pass along the discount to the customer 


 







CAC Notes – February 21, 2007       


 5


Paul reviewed staff recommended incentive changes to make incentive offerings simpler: 
•  Combine gas and electric incentives (same incentive across fuel type and building types – sf, 


mf, manufactured) 
• Tiered incentive not recommended for insulation measures 


- Insulation measures (attic, wall and floor) paid per square foot for ally building types 
- No incentive cap 
- Contractor spiffs eliminated (duct and air sealing); dollars allocated to appropriate 


measure incentives 
• Air-sealing test added at $50 level 


- Because there is disagreement with providing the contractor any incentives both the 
 $50 air seal test and duct leakage test have been removed with the cap for both 
 measures being raised to $400, thus passing the savings along to the consumer instead 
 of the contractor. 


 
Paul Olson commented that the proposal to pay on a per square foot basis takes away the higher 
proportion of cost paid on smaller (often poorer) households under the existing system. The existing 
system paid the same incentive regardless of square footage.  
 
More staff recommended changes: 


• SF window incentives increased from $2 to $2.25/sf 
• Gas hearth  $70 incentive at minimum 80% AFUE 
• No incentives for attic ventilation since this is required in the program Weatherization 


Specification Manual 
• SF measure packages added with enhanced incentives 
• Minimum of 5 measures completed in a calendar year to remain on active trade ally list; also 


must have completed Participation Agreement and appropriate insurance assignment on file 
with PMC 


• Bundled incentives  
- $150 bonus for air sealing and thermal measures combo 
- $300 bonus for heat pump upgrade to HSPF 8.5 EER 12 or better, commissioning and 


performance tested/sealed ducts 
- $100 for 90%-94% gas furnace and performance tested/sealed ducts 
- $125 for 95+ AFUE and performance tested tested/sealed ducts 


 
Ken Keating commented on merits of incenting high efficiency heat pumps in basements, as little 
incremental savings are associated with this.  
 
Paul discussed the merits of increasing minimum average U-value for windows versus per window U-
value.  
 
Jeremy Anderson said the reason trade allies support the overall average U-value for a window mix is 
because it’s simpler; manufacturers list U-values on their windows. Paul noted many trade allies don’t 
submit documentation to support the incentive payment. If the trade allies can come up with a form and 
a methodology, he would consider changing from a window-by-window U-value.  
 
Ken Keating suggests using a weighted average.  
 
Mat Northway does as well.  
 
Jeremy Anderson said he would be more than happy to work on this. 







CAC Notes – February 21, 2007       


 6


Milgard’s representative George Lorance, supported the weighted average approach. 
 
John Hill, LBL Windows and Doors, thinks the weighted average approach punishes those trade allies 
who have done the work to get to the numbers we are looking for. If he’s in a house where the average 
is not going to reach .30, he’ll change his recommendation to include more efficient fixed windows, etc.  
 
Randy Emerson, also from LBL, said using a weighted average opens the process to gaming. 
 
Suzanne Dillard said her staff thinks the subject is complex. She would go with the package the way it is.  
 
Lauren Shapton said the more we can get rid of data entry issues, the better.  
 
Andria Jacob said she supports Paul’s recommendation because it reduces the administrative burden.  
 
Paul Olson noted he has heard two positions from two different window manufacturers. He has a 
feeling the per square foot approach for insulation will be a little more complicated for multifamily 
complexes, but a lot more complicated in large homes. It was a lot simpler to go by the footprint of the 
attic. His personal view is that the former system was easier. He thinks we should use a number 
between $200 and $300. As for windows, he would like window manufacturers to get together and 
reach a single position. Steve said this is practical for incentive changes in 2008.  
 
Paul Berkowitz said he needs a decision within a day so he can begin to load measures.  
 
Jeremy noted that most of the trade allies he has spoke to are in favor of the per square foot basis for 
insulation. 
 
Jeremy noted the trade allies had additional written comments he would like Paul to address. Fred 
suggested holding this discussion to the end of the meeting. That discussion took place, with Paul 
Berkowitz, Kyle Diesner, Steve Lacey, Diane Ferington, Jeremy Anderson, Paul Olson and Fred Gordon 
participating. Notes were not recorded of this post-meeting discussion.  
 
5. Production Efficiency Case Study 
Buzz Thielemann thanked the team and everyone in the room for supporting his nomination as one of 
the Daily Journal of Commerce’s Rainmakers of the year.  
 
He presented a case study of Sierrapine Medite Division, which makes a dense particleboard product. 
He reviewed the typical progression of a participant from being uninformed, to informed, to 
participating, and – in cases like Sierrapine’s – to becoming enlightened.  
 
Sierrapine’s baseline system in Medford did not have enough air. They needed about 25% more capacity. 
A used, secondary baghouse could have been rebuilt and installed to achieve needed extra dust 
collection air capacity. This would have added 365,000 kWh year increased energy use, or $11,700 
added electricity costs. The Medford branch lobbied their management office in California for new 
energy efficient equipment for the saw and sander. The headquarters company wanted a less than one 
year payback. It took several years to get this approved and installed. It saves 1.85 million kWh/year and 
$67,000/year in electricity cost. Final project cost was $1.1 million and had a 4.2 year payback. Energy 
Trust incentive was $410,446.  
 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:15 pm.  








 
 
 
 CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 


Notes from meeting Mar. 14, 2007 
 


Attending from the Council:           
Steve Bicker, NW Natural 
Ann Grim (for Suzanne Dillard), ODOE 
Andria Jacob, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
Ken Keating, BPA 
Mat Northway, EWEB 
Paul Olson, Oregon Remodeler’s Association 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
   
Attending from Energy Trust board:      
Alan Meyer 
 
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Fred Gordon 
Steve Lacey 
Spencer Moersfelder 
Jan Schaeffer 
Jill Steiner 
Kendall Youngblood 
Pati Presnail 
Phil Degens 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. Program delivery model update  
Phil Degens reviewed the status of this study, intended to advise us regarding how to optimize the 
various Energy Trust’s program delivery models. He said the contractor, Research Into Action, is 
engaged in interviews with Energy Trust staff, PMCs, PDCs, trade allies, stakeholders and other 
organizations. Findings are expected in April and will be presented to the board’s evaluation committee 
and CAC/RAC then. Alan Meyer asked if they weren’t going to interview clients. Phil said we thought 
we could get more out of the existing process and impact evaluations, which extensively interview 
participants, as opposed to interviewing a small sample of participants as part of this study. If further 
research is indicated, including a more detailed polling of our customer base, we will pursue this. A 
preliminary findings presentation will be made at the April 18th CAC meeting.  
 
3. Budget reconciliation of 2006 carryover funds 
Steve said we decided this year to distribute excess carryover funds from year end into programs, 
rather than keeping them unbudgeted, as happened in years past. Pati Presnail, Energy Trust controller, 
noted we had an additional $5.8 million in carryover at year end, plus $1.9 million we expect from 
conservation rate credits, minus $1.6 million in PGE revenue and minus $0.3 million in Avista revenues – 
for a net change in 2007 resources of $5.8 million. With these resources, we propose to increase 
efficiency incentives by $1.7 million, including $1.2 million into residential, $0.6 million to industrial, and 
reduced the new commercial building incentive budget by $143,000, representing projects that now are 
not expected to complete until 2008. We propose to add $1.2 million for energy efficiency program 
delivery, and to reallocate $716,000 to evaluation, program marketing, conservation rate credit staffing  







CAC Notes – March 14, 2007       


 2


and other miscellaneous purposes. She noted also the anticipated addition of $1.9 million to the 2008 
budget -- $1.3 million in new commercial buildings and $0.6 million in Production Efficiency.  
 
Andria Jacob asked why the overall carryover is so large. Fred noted much of this carryover represents 
renewable commitments. Paul Olson asked how the additional program marketing monies would be 
spent. Kendall said that $.5 million for BPA spring change-a-light campaign was added, along with other 
adds. Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes added a refrigerator removal/replacement pilot with a 
community agency. Some funds were added to support a community energy project now in the planning 
stages. Paul Olson asked if recommissioning solar water heating systems is under consideration. Steve 
said this would be a custom program that needs a lot more detailed study. Mat Northway noted the 
problem is the difficulty of evaluating the degree of repair needed. Andria Jacob asked if Home Energy 
Reviewers might be engaged. Steve said this is a possibility. Fred said we’d need to develop a simple 
system for evaluating, train the reviewers to evaluate systems, then test the efficacy of repairs. It’s a 
good idea but we haven’t had time to work on this.     
 
Steve said we are considering moving to a two-year budget cycle. This would simplify the outreach 
process. Alan Meyer said he thinks looking forward two years is important, and he assumes we would 
need to amend the budget at least annually. Steve Bicker agreed. Whether this would be a rolling two-
year budget or not is under discussion.  
 
4. Efficiency program savings potential forecast 
Fred Gordon noted our work revisiting the program mix. He noted we are now somewhat more 
optimistic that we can meet the 300 average megawatt electric goal by 2012. To do this we would 
acquire more than half the available resource acquired in residential and industrial, but less in 
commercial. We may need to increase incentive amounts and levelized cost caps to meet gas goals. 
Market transformation is an important component of the program mix, including for gas. We concluded 
we would raise the gas goal to 21,000 therms and raise the levelized cost cap from 30 cents to 40 cents. 
Fred presented more detail comparing the electric and gas goals in 2002/3 vs 2006 strategic plan 
projections. He showed sector impact projections as a percent of achievable potential, Energy Trust 10-
year goals as a percent of achievable potential and percent of residential impacts achieved through 
market transformation.  
 
Alan Meyer asked why we aren’t directing more money into the commercial sector, given our analysis 
that our savings projections for that sector are only 41% of achievable potential. Steve said we are 
working hard to develop new tracks within commercial programs targeting underserved market 
segments. We can’t spend appreciable additional funds now as we develop delivery infrastructure but 
expect to gain momentum and pay significant incentives to customers in 2008.  
 
Meeting participants continued to discuss possibilities for obtaining additional market share in the future, 
based on identifying new measures, marketing strategies and other factors. Fred outlined his interest in 
providing rebates for a new, efficient gas water heater that’s not yet on the market but is expected to 
appear soon. He said we are inclined to support this new product even though at the outset, and for the 
next couple years or so, it may be priced too high to pass our societal cost effectiveness test. Our hope 
is that, as we did for washing machines, we could help create enough market demand that the cost 
would come down. Ken Keating noted the reason California is so interested in this product is that it is 
one of the few hopes they have there for significant gas saving. Fred said we may need to work 
separately because California will require a NOX control device that adds to the cost but will not be 
needed here. Steve Bicker thinks this is a good idea, so long as it doesn’t block the niche market for 
tankless water heaters. Fred said we are doing an evaluation of that product and market. Andria agreed. 
Ken Keating supports this, as do Ann, Lauren and Paul.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:05 pm.  








 1


 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on March 14, 2007. 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Frank Vignola, UOSRML 
Angus Duncan, BEF 
Thor Hinkley, PGE 
Justin Klure, ODOE 
Kyle Davis, Pacific Power 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Lisa Schwartz, OPUC* 
Troy Gagliano, RNP 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Elizabeth Giles 
Adam Serchuk 
David McClelland 
Alan Cowan 
Betsy Kauffman 
Peter West 
John Reynolds 
Tara Crookshank 
Spencer Plumb 
Debbie Menasche 


Attending from the Board: 
Alan Meyer, Weyerhaeuser 
 
Others attending: 
Dave Robison, Stellar Processes 
Jon Miller, OSEIA 
 
 
* present via conference call


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Peter convened the meeting at 9:30 am. The January notes were adopted with no changes. 


2. Budget Updates 


At the end of 2006, renewables had $165,000 left over that was unbudgeted. We are planning 
to reinvest these funds into the programs that were affected by earlier cuts. $110,000 will go 
back to OSP for incentives, and $55,000 will go to solar program for marketing.  The RAC was 
supportive. 


3. Charter for Energy Trust Advisory Committees 


In 2001, the board created two councils, the Conservation Advisory Council and the Renewable 
Advisory Council. Since then, the councils have operated under their own operating procedures 
without explicit charters. While council operations have operated well without a charter, 
currently both councils have a few members who have not attended meetings for long time 
periods (more than a year). Because the council positions are important, the board is being 
asked to approve a charter that would do the following: 


a. provide that members who do not attend meetings for six months will be asked if 
they wish to continue membership; a year’s non-attendance may be deemed 
withdrawal from the Council; 


b. direct staff to appoint Council members after obtaining the consent of the board 
Policy Committee; and 







DRAFT RAC notes – 3/14/07 


 2


c. establish that the councils should be composed of 10-18 members 


Frank said that certain groups need to be represented, and if they are not represented for a 
year, or even 6 months, it is concerning. We should consider if there are groups absent that 
should be present. Peter replied that the purpose of the charter is to provide this guidance and 
flexibility. 


4. Solar Impact Evaluation 


Phil Degens presented the findings of the solar electric program impact evaluation. This study 
looked at residential participants that participated in the solar electric program between 2002 
and May 2006. Dave Robison of Stellar Processes performed the research. The goals were to 
evaluate the accuracy of the kilowatt-hour generation estimates for each project and estimate 
the net power delivered to the grid. The question this study was addressing was whether 
installing a photovoltaic system leads to the consumer increasing their energy usage, commonly 
referred to as “take back.”  


There were 277 participants in the program in the period evaluated. Of these, 118 were 
deemed usable. Out of the 118, 83 had a system in place for at least one year and had provided 
Energy Trust with meter reading data, which indicates the cumulative electricity generated by 
the photovoltaics. The control group consisted of 26 individuals who had installed a solar 
electric system in the past year. The evaluation analyzed the expected and metered kWh 
production, pre- and post-installation billing data, and the energy consumption of comparable 
households. 


Of the 83 homes that had meter readings, on average the PV systems operated as expected 
with measured data indicating 99% of the expected production. There were slight variations 
regionally, and the possible sources of this variation are being explored from a programmatic 
perspective. Dave Robison commented that this indicates that Frank Vignola’s sun charts are 
working well and predicting performance accurately.  


Angus added that a monitoring station in Medford may not be a good metric for the rest of 
Southern Oregon due to microclimate considerations. 


The analysis looked at billing data for the year before and before and year after the solar 
installation was evaluated. The average daily kilowatt-hour, mean temperature and solar 
irradiation data was collected for the same periods and a regression to normalize the electricity 
consumption for weather was performed for each household. Prior to installation, the 
household’s use averaged about 12,400 kWh/yr. Post-installation, they used about 10,000 
kWh/yr. Thus, there was a change in energy consumption of about 2,400 kWh. The control 
group showed a 2% reduction in overall energy consumption (200 kWh/year) over the same 
time period, which was assumed to also e true for the PV adopters and applied to them to 
calculate a net change. The overall net savings of the group who installed systems was about 
2,200 kWh annually. Based solely on the output of the solar projects, the expected reduction in 
energy use would have been about 3,300 kWh/yr on average. 


The systems on generated the electricity expected, but 73% of that expected production 
translated into lower energy use s recorded on the bill.  About 27% of the production was 
‘taken back’ by the household in the form of higher, other energy use.  While this difference is 
statistically significant, it is unclear why. This may represent inconsistent data reflecting partial 
occupancy prior to the solar installation or other factors. 







DRAFT RAC notes – 3/14/07 


 3


The evaluation recommends that this topic be research more fully to see if the engineering 
model should be revised. Additionally, since take back seems to be a factor, systems should 
continue to be monitored to see if this behavior persists. This may become a higher priority if 
the program plans significant market expansion.  


Doug Boleyn asked if there were any surveys of the families to see if their lifestyles or homes 
had changed. For example, if the solar was installed as part of a larger remodeling project, 
energy use may have increased. Phil said that he plans to add an optional survey on the web for 
participants and ask additional questions on the meter reading postcards. Peter added that the 
size of the possible take back effect indicates that it is an issue that needs to be better 
characterized. Whether it is the 27% indicated by this study is yet to be determined.  


Dave said that new construction projects without any data prior to the solar installation were 
easily identified and eliminated, but he has concerns that some of the data may have come from 
new construction projects with artificially lower energy consumption prior to occupation.  


Adam asked if there was insight into how other states have looked at the take back issue. Phil 
said there have been a number of studies in CA, but most were evaluating new homes or time 
of use (TOU) studies and were not directly applicable.  


David McClelland explained the meter reading evaluation he has been performing. Energy Trust 
contacts all solar electric program participants a year after their system is inspected to request a 
meter reading. This is done via a direct-mail postcard, and participants are given the option to 
submit the reading on the pre-postage paid card, by phone or online. The program has had over 
80% response rate to the cards.  


While photovoltaic systems are on average performing as expected, the solar program is most 
interested in identifying those systems that are performing abnormally. The process has been to 
directly contact the trade allies who installed the underperforming systems and ask them to 
follow-up with their customer and respond to us with any resolutions. 


Thus far, this has been a very positive process. The trade allies are very interested in learning 
about underperforming systems and are more than willing to follow up with their customers. 
Next steps will be to collect data at the two and three-year mark to add further reference 
points and continue to track performance over time. A new intern, Eric Youngson, will be 
investigating the regional differences in performance to see if the solar irradiation data provided 
by Energy Trust does not contain enough regional specificity. The solar program plans to 
publicize the information, but wants to ensure that the results are characterized appropriately.  


5. PMC & Process Evaluation 


Phil provided background on the program contracting and delivery model evaluation that is 
currently underway. Energy Trust currently uses a variety of models to deliver and contract for 
energy efficiency and renewable energy programs. For some programs, the majority of work is 
outsourced; for others the majority of work is performed in-house, while other programs rely 
upon a combination of staff and contracted program functions. As Energy Trust reaches its five-
year anniversary, it is time to revisit these models and see how they are serving the 
organization’s needs as it grows and expands into new markets and sectors.  


The goals of the evaluation are to asses the strengths and weaknesses of the various program 
contracting and delivery structures and to obtain recommendations to improve customer 
service and satisfaction, communications, and long-term cost-effectiveness. Research Into Action 
was selected as the contractor in response to a RFQ issued in November 2006. They hope to 







DRAFT RAC notes – 3/14/07 


 4


have preliminary results for the evaluation committee on April 14. The final results will be 
presented to the RAC April 18 and the Board on May 9. 


6. Green Tag Policy 


Green tags, also called Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs), are generally known as the 
environmental benefits from electricity generated by a renewable resource. Typically, these 
benefits are defined as the avoided air pollution from an alternative, fossil-fueled source of 
generation. A green tag is measured as a MWh of generation.  In compliance markets under 
Renewable Portfolio Standards (RPS), or Renewable Energy Standards (RES), they are the 
mechanism to indicate compliance with the standard. Green tags are recognized financial 
instruments that are sold and traded internationally. They are also present in CO2 cap and trade 
markets.  


The value of a tag is determined in a market, and the market depends on the standards of an 
RPS and what is accepted in the voluntary markets. For example, if a market deems Black Liquor 
not acceptable, electricity generating tags from a Black Liquor project it will not have a value in 
the compliance market. It is not a function of the cost of a renewable resource. This is rapidly 
evolving as the market expands. Under SB1149, the public purpose funds for renewable energy 
are intended to defray the above-market cost of certain renewable resources. Nowhere does 
the bill mention green tags.  


The current Energy Trust policy is to own green tags in proportion to its share of the above 
market costs. It is not based on the total cost of the project or the market price of tags. It is an 
add-on to the goal of developing new renewable resources. This policy worked when the green 
tag market was not much of an option and the above-market costs of projects far exceeded the 
value of tags on the market. 
 
However, the markets have changed and the policy as it is written has become a source of 
friction for mid-sized projects, particularly in biomass and community wind. Our offer is 
disconnected from market values, provides no sharing in upside potential and does not leverage 
a positive inducement to perform.  
 
Competition for tags has increased and will continue to grow, particularly as RPSs (also know as 
the RES in Oregon) are instituted. This impacts not only what projects come our way, but the 
availability and ability to obtain resources to meet Oregon’s expected requirements. It also 
impacts how Energy Trust’s renewable programs are organized. Connecting above market costs 
to the green tag value is no longer realistic. It is arbitrary and out of step with how a green tag 
value is calculated.  
 
Value for the ratepayer is also an issue. Energy Trust is foregoing relatively cheap opportunities 
to acquire tags and allowing them to leave the state to satisfy other RPSs. In Biomass, this was 
exemplified by our negotiations with three projects in 2006. Two of the projects were offered 
100% of their above-market costs, but Energy Trust required 100% of the tags in return. Both 
projects requested to share the tags, which did not comply with Energy Trust policy and ended 
the negotiations. Instead, Energy Trust went to the third project, where the effective price for 
the tag was $16/MWh. The tags from the two projects that walked away could have been 
$8/MWh. 
 
If the policy remains in its present form, project development will be narrowed to smaller, more 
expensive projects that are further from market. This will make Energy Trust less relevant to 
the market and leave fewer opportunities and/or less flexibility. 







DRAFT RAC notes – 3/14/07 


 5


 
This said, staff have identified three options: to do nothing, to minimize or to define a new 
approach. By doing nothing, Energy Trust would let the green tag market fund what it will and 
become provider of last resort for more expensive technologies and applications.  
 
Energy Trust could minimize the concerns by basing its share on the proportion of the entire 
project cost and take far fewer tags to lower the point of friction. In the case of solar, Energy 
Trust would go from taking 75-80% of the green tags to 20-30% of the tags.  Peter indicated that 
staff believes this to be simple short-term avoidance and not addressing the critical issues.  Staff 
also doubt this is in the best long-term interest of the ratepayer under a RPS. 
 
The last option is to define a new approach. The policy committee has been iterating with 
renewable program staff for six months on a new policy. This option under consideration now 
consists first of de-linking above market costs and green tag ownership. It uses green tags as a 
tool when cheaper tags are obtainable. It allows Energy Trust to continue to support market 
development while securing tags for the long-term benefit of ratepayers. And finally, it allows 
developers to own a greater share of tags, if the levelized market value exceeds the value of the 
above-market offer. 
 
There are three advantages to this new approach: the better projects get built, Energy Trust 
secures tags early at a reasonable price for ratepayers, and the projects have long-term positive 
incentives to perform. 
 
The first step would be to establish a set of referent prices for green tags, which would require 
periodic surveys of the market and involve an independent third party or broker. These would 
be varied by technology, application and/or market classifications, and calculated at a net present 
value. 
 
Second, where a project’s above-market cost is less than the value of the tags based on the 
referent price, Energy Trust would claim only as many green tags as its financial incentive would 
buy on the market.  In practice, there may need to be controls on minimum share for the 
ratepayers or other safety valves. 
 
Consider, for example, a 10 MW wind project that will generate 400,000 MWh over its 20 year 
operating life.  Not counting any value for green tags, the project has an above-market cost of 
$1 million. The referent price for this kind of tag indicates a market value of $4/MWh, or $1.6 
million over the life of the project. Energy Trust would offer to pay the full above-market cost of 
$1 million in return for 250,000 green tags over the life of the project, or 62.5% of the tags in 
any given year. The project would retain the remaining tags.   
 
The key difference between this example and the current policy is that the current policy 
requires direct equivalence between the fraction of the project’s above-market cost covered by 
Energy Trust and the proportion of the project’s tags received by Energy Trust. This method 
would require Energy Trust to reevaluate the referent prices annually. However, this is no 
different than what is done in solar on an annual basis. While this will be more challenging for 
staff, it will be better for the market and makes Energy Trust’s offer simpler and more 
compelling.  
 
Lisa agreed that there is a problem with the current policy.  She asked whether the revenue the 
developer acquires from the market is taken into account when calculating above-market costs 
in this model. Peter replied the revenues are not taken into account. If you were to do so, you 
would run into a circular calculation. This policy allows the developer to potentially achieve a 







DRAFT RAC notes – 3/14/07 


 6


higher rate of return than the industry average we assume for the estimates of above-market 
costs.  We do not take the risk that the project returns less than expected and this may be a 
better balance by allowing a potential for an upside.  The policy provides a benefit to both 
parties; the developer has more potential revenue to maintain the project, and Energy Trust’s 
tags are more assured.  
 
Lisa asked that we check whether under SB 1149 we the above-market model needs to take 
into account the developer’s revenues from the tags.  Lisa noted that this may be different (or 
not) in an RES (RPS) environment.  It is unknown whether the RES will pass and/or in what 
form. Since Energy Trust is retiring tags on behalf of ratepayers, there may be more leeway 
available.  Jon Miller agreed that the result of including tag values in the above-market test 
creates a circular calculation, which leaves you back with today’s problematic policy. 
 
Adam added that this policy is mimicking the stance financial markets are taking on green tags. 
Currently, a bank will ignore any revenue coming from tags because the fluctuation in the 
markets is too great for them to be comfortable considering tags a revenue stream on the 
project.  
 
Lisa asked what the timeline is for going to the board with this policy. Peter responded that the 
policy committee has reviewed the current recommendation and feels comfortable with moving 
to this stage. If the RAC feels similarly, the issue can be brought forward for discussion at the 
March 28 board meeting.  However, we are interested in hearing reactions and are expecting to 
identify further issues. 
 
Several RAC members what would is done to avoid funding a project that does not need you.  
Peter replied that the current above-market test does that and would help in the same way with 
this policy, but we will need to clarify how.  Peter responded that appreciated the point and staff 
will need to develop a clear review to ensure against there free-riders.  
 
Alan Meyer said that if there is a renewable mandate, Energy Trust will need to acquire and 
retire tags and verify that the only output counted is that for which we have tags. In the end, 
Energy Trust is buying tags for PGE and Pacific Power ratepayers.  
 
Alan asked why we would buy only a portion of the tags in the instances when they appeared 
relatively cheap.  Shouldn’t we be buying them all? Peter said that Energy Trust could buy all the 
tags. This would be an option, if they wanted to sell all the tags. The downside is that you take 
money away from another project. Not necessarily getting them all in order to foster another 
project fits with the mandate to develop the market, which is better served by more, varied 
projects. This policy is trying to sit between this mandate and still acquiring tags.  
 
Angus Duncan said that Energy Trust needs to be positioned somewhere between the 
expensive, hard to do projects and those that can be built based on the developer’s belief in the 
value of the tags. Energy Trust won’t know which projects those are until it sees them. The 
proposed policy would allow this, but the issue will be how the dollars leverage the optimum 
amount of new resource.  This you will not know until you go forward.  
 
Peter agreed that the new policy sits squarely within the two scenarios described. Currently, we 
are in the green tag and market development business, and we are not proposing to change this. 
There is a need to articulate a threshold to identify projects that are market.  
 
Angus asked why Energy Trust would not offer x-dollars for a project from which we claim no 
tags, or x-dollar plus some money for the tags at some referent price. Peter replied that based 







DRAFT RAC notes – 3/14/07 


 7


on current policy, we cannot assist a project without taking some tags. Angus responded that 
Energy Trust’s mandate isn’t to claim tags, but to make projects happen.   Alan Meyer noted it is 
broader than that and with an RES acquiring tags to help satisfy the RES is even more important.   
 
Kyle Davis asked whether the referent price would be different for different technologies. Peter 
said they would be different, which Kyle approved of, adding that this would give a lower tag 
price for a riskier project. Kyle felt a high referent price means a project is already attractive in 
the marketplace, and is another way of differentiating projects. Pacific Power believes there 
needs to be a transfer of some green tags that can be retired on behalf of the ratepayer, but the 
current policy will not function in a RES environment because Energy Trust will forced to deal 
only with risky, high-cost projects.  
 
Thor said PGE and Pacific Power are in agreement on this issue. Energy Trust needs the 
flexibility to negotiate the best deal amongst different technologies.  
 
Lisa said that the utilities are already in the tag buying and selling business at the wholesale level, 
so their input should be taken into consideration when determining referent prices. Peter 
agreed that this policy must have Energy Trust coordinating closely with utilities on the referent 
price and the next iteration will make that clear.  
 
Justin said that tracking with the RES is important, which is addressed by this temporary policy.  
 
Frank said that Energy Trust’s goal should not be acquiring cheap tags. Why develop projects at 
all when you can get the tags more inexpensively by buying them? There are a number of 
intangibles in the true cost of a project, and the above-market cost analysis should do its best to 
take these into consideration. In particular, it should be noted that projects won’t happen unless 
certain steps are taken to reduce the associated risks. Thus, there is great value in sharing the 
tags. 
 
Troy asked how often Energy Trust imagines having to change the referent price. Peter said at 
least once a year and potentially more frequent than that. However, you do not want to do it 
too frequently. Lisa asked how long-term the levelized price will be. Peter responded that the 
aim will be for 10-20 years. We will need to evaluate as we go along to see if this is something 
we can.  
 
Jon Miller said that things will definitely change with a RES. It is important that Energy Trust is 
re-evaluating this policy at this time. Soon, Washington may begin buying tags from Oregon. 
Thus, the risk of doing nothing may be higher than we believe. Wherever outside dollars can be 
leveraged to make projects go in a budget restricted environment, they should be.  
 
Kyle asked what the project pipeline looks like and how urgent then need is to change the 
policy. Peter replied that the pipeline is drying up, and will continue to do so if we do not revise 
the policy. Biomass has lost three projects totaling 20 MW which have potentially gone out of 
state. Community wind is also stalling out on its three projects.  
 
Angus said that fundamentally he doesn’t care whether Energy Trust takes the tags or not. What 
is most important is that the programs have the flexibility to negotiate freely. When Energy 
Trust determines the referent price, technology and geographic should be considered. Reserve 
the flexibility to front- or back-load the offer. Provide a variety of prices and tag options. 
Ultimately, you want a policy that leaves as much flexibility within a set of principles as possible. 
Say you will fund the above-market difference, whether it is in tags or dollars.  
 







DRAFT RAC notes – 3/14/07 


 8


Alan asked if we are front-ending payments or paying on production. Peter said that we typically 
front-end the offers to address up-front capital issues, but we also look at the situation and 
technology to determine what is most appropriate given the risks for the project. Adam added 
that early on Energy Trust saw its ability to buy the long-term tags as an asset. Now, we are 
seeing the reverse, where projects want to sell us the short-term tags and hold the long-term 
ones.  
 
Lisa recommended that we tell the board this is an interim policy that needs immediate 
consideration. Peter said that he would do so. Given the agreement the agreement we have a 
problem we will bring this to the board on March 28 for preliminary consideration.  


There were no public comments. Peter asked RAC members to direct questions or comments 
about the program updates included in the meeting packet to Peter or the program manager. 


Peter adjourned the meeting at 12:00 pm. 





